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Welcome to Macmillan Cancer Support’s  
Annual Report and Accounts for 2021. 
Everybody, everywhere, has been affected by 
cancer in some way in their lifetime. This is why 
we create our annual report to raise awareness 
of the devasting impact of a cancer diagnosis 
and to help people understand the support and 
services Macmillan offers, plus how we raise 
and spend our money each year.

The report is divided into 5 easy-to-follow 
sections:  

1. Our year at a glance 
2. Strategic report  
3. Governance  
4. Financial statements
5. Thank you

Navigating the report
You may prefer to read the report from start to 
finish, but if you’d rather start with the sections 
that interest you most, we have included easy 
navigation buttons on each page. 

Using the digital version: If you’re reading 
the digital version, you can use the clickable 
buttons in the footer of each page to easily 
navigate to different sections of the report. 
There are also a number of hyperlinks 
throughout which will take you to additional 
resources that may be of interest.

Using the printed version: The buttons at the 
bottom of each page will help you track which 
section you’re reading, and 
we’ve also included QR codes. 
To use these, open the camera 
app on your mobile phone  
and point the camera at the  
QR code. Tap the link or banner that  
appears, and you’ll be taken to a variety of 
additional resources. 

It’s been a pleasure to work on this report 
and hear so many inspiring stories and the 
amazing achievements and challenges faced 

by my colleagues, our supporters, volunteers, 
professionals and partners. Macmillan has 
always been a charity close to my heart, thanks 
to my Nan and her love for Coffee Mornings 
throughout my childhood, so I’m extremely 
proud to be able to play a role in supporting 
people living with cancer. 

I’d like to dedicate this report to all of the 
voices who have kindly shared their very 
personal stories and experiences. With your 
help, we can continue to raise awareness and 
inspire more people to do whatever it takes to 
help people living with cancer. 

Anna Hopper 
Communications Officer & Annual Report Editor 
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Roger, who is registered blind, contacted the 
Macmillan Support Line for information and 
guidance after he was diagnosed with prostate 
cancer. He was referred to the Macmillan Buddies 
service and paired with Asha, and they had weekly 
phone calls. Roger is now keen to explore the 
different ways he can give back to people in a 
similar situation to him.   

Why we do 
what we do
Roger’s story

“ I am so thankful for  
my Buddy, Asha.”

“ The person I spoke to on the Support Line 
understood exactly what I was going through 
and handled my call really well. I was unsure 
about Macmillan Buddies at first, but my 
Buddy Asha and I really clicked and we had 
very similar interests. We never talked about 
the cancer. I am so thankful for Asha – having 
someone to talk to that I didn’t actually 
know was the only good thing that came 
from my cancer. I always looked forward to 
the next call and I’m going to sign up to be a 
Macmillan Buddy myself.”
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Asha started volunteering for Macmillan after her 
brother was diagnosed with a brain tumour in 
2016. After witnessing her brother’s experience 
in hospital, she realised how many people with 
cancer must be lonely and suffering with no 
support. Through Macmillan, Asha has supported 
many people living with cancer over the years 
– from weekly phone calls to home visits and 
afternoon teas. Asha also helps run a support group 
for Asian people with breast cancer, to break the 
taboo around cancer in Asian communities. 

Asha’s story

“ You learn a lot as a volunteer, it really opens 
your eyes. You have to give it a few calls to 
get to know each person, it takes time for 
the barrier to come down and for people to 
open up. With every person you speak to, you 
meet and talk to people with such interesting 
backgrounds, you will give and get something 
different back each time.

  The Macmillan Buddies service is great – I 
recently supported Roger who is blind, and 
I just listen to him and learn. We also have a 
laugh together and share jokes. He tells me 
about the apps on his phone and laptop that 
help him live his life. He is always positive.”

“  You give and get something 
different back each time.”
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Last year people living with cancer 
needed us more than ever - and we were 
there for them…

…whether this was at the end of the phone, at 
one of our information centres or during their first 
treatment session, we were there. Our volunteers 
supported people through treatment and our 
Macmillan professionals worked tirelessly across 
the UK. Hand-in-hand with our campaigners, we 
stepped up to influence decision-makers to provide 
people with the care they urgently needed. 

The impact of coronavirus continued to hit people 
living with cancer hard. The ongoing disruption 
to health and care services meant that too many 
people struggled to rapidly access quality cancer 
care and treatment. We continued to fight every 
day to do whatever it takes to ensure people with 
cancer got the support they needed to live life as 
fully as they can, whether that was with the physical 
impact of cancer, emotional support, financial 
guidance or questions about treatment.  

To ensure care was personalised, we developed 
new services and invested in over 350 new roles 
for frontline Macmillan professionals. We gave 
a platform to those affected by cancer to hold 
governments to account. We also strengthened 
our work to address inequalities in access to cancer 
support services, to ensure we better reflect and 
represent all the communities we serve.  

£315 million 
identified gains
Over 800,000 people were supported through  
our website and we identified almost £315 
million in financial gains for people experiencing  
financial concerns. 

None of this would have been possible without the 
tireless dedication of our supporters, volunteers, 
professionals, employees and partners. We would 
like to say a huge thank you and we know we have 
a responsibility to repay this trust by building the 
best organisation we can.

The outstanding commitment and passion of our 
supporters means we are now in a strong position 
to be even more ambitious in our plans for 2022 
and beyond. The urgency to step up for people 
living with cancer has never been greater. Acting 
together with heart, strength and ambition, we 
will continue to achieve remarkable things to help 
as many people living with cancer as possible to 
live their lives as fully as they can.

Summary of the year 
from our Chair  
& Chief Executive

Hear from our Chief Executive Lynda Thomas 
about her personal highlights of 2021 
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Richard Murley, Chair                 Lynda Thomas, Chief Executive Officer

In Spring 2022, Lynda Thomas announced that she would be stepping down 
from her role at Macmillan as Chief Executive.
 
“ Leading this inspiring charity has been both an honour and a privilege. 

The pandemic has proven that, together with our volunteers, partners 
and professionals, we are strong, flexible and resilient – and I’m so 
proud of everything we achieved for people with cancer. It has also 
heralded a new era where cancer care and the fundraising environment 
are evolving. I believe the time is right to hand over to new leadership 
to take the organisation forward and ensure Macmillan continues to do 
whatever it takes for people with cancer long into the future.”

.......Update at the time of writing.......
Our senior leaders worked with our Black, Asian 
and Minority Ethnic and Disabled Employee 
Networks to commission the Social Justice 
Collective (SJC) to carry out a confidential  
listening exercise, to help us get a better 
understanding of the experiences of disabled 
and/or ethnically diverse colleagues at Macmillan, 
including those who are neurodivergent, or 
recovering from long-term conditions including 
mental health and cancer.

In June 2022, we received the report from the 
Social Justice Collective. The report revealed a 
number of areas where we have fallen far short  
of the standards that colleagues have a right  
to expect. As a leadership team, we fully  
accept the findings of the report and its 
recommendations. We are profoundly sorry that 
anyone has ever suffered a distressing or harmful 
experience at Macmillan. 

We want to sincerely thank those colleagues 
who recounted their experiences, and we share 
their determination that Macmillan should be a 
workplace where everyone feels they belong. 
We are committed to making sure their strength 
in speaking up will help us make the changes 
needed to move us forward. The leadership team 
and trustees are taking urgent steps to address 
the issues identified and we will be reporting on 
progress made in our 2022 annual report.
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In 2021, our services 
reached 2.4 million people 
affected by cancer 

2.4 
million

44,000 electronic holistic 
needs assessments were 
carried out to help people 
living with cancer receive the 
personalised care and support 
they needed 

44,000 
assessments

£315 
million
We secured a total of 
£315 million in benefits 
and grants for people 
living with cancer 

Our supporters  
and fundraisers  
raised a tremendous 
£227.5 million

£227.5 
million

The difference we made 
Right now, there are more than 3 million people living with cancer in the UK, and that number is set to grow to 4 million by 2030. Someone is diagnosed with 
cancer, on average, every 90 seconds. To support people affected by cancer, we rely on the dedication of thousands of colleagues, professionals, volunteers, 
partners and supporters. It’s up to all of us to do whatever it takes to help everyone with cancer live life as fully as they can. Let’s make it happen.
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Over 3,000 people were 
referred to our free specialist 
counselling service

Over 3,000 
counselled

Almost 103,000 people 
supported through the 
Macmillan Support Line

103,000 
supported

2,744 healthcare 
professionals attended 
virtual classroom events 
on our learning hub

2,744 
trained

We invested over  
£29 million to fund over 
350 new roles for cancer 
professionals

Over 350  
new roles

The difference we made 
(continued) 
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At Macmillan, we do whatever it takes to give people living with cancer the support that’s right for them. 
Because every person is different, and their care must be too. 

In person, online and on the phone, we uncover people’s needs and then help to address them. We create new 
services, adapt old ones and speak up on behalf of those affected so governments will take action. 

But we can’t do this on our own. We need our supporters, partners, volunteers, employees, campaigners, and 
professionals to stand by our side and by the side of people living with cancer.

Supporting people 
living with cancer 
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Anoushe pictured at a Macmillan Information and Support Centre in Whittington Hospital.
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Anxiety and fear
“ My friend dropped me at the hospital, but I 

went in alone. With my mask and disposable 
gloves on, I felt nervous being around anyone 
in the waiting room. I was told that ordinarily 
they would have offered me chemotherapy, 
but they were concerned about the pandemic. 

  The risk of contracting coronavirus with a 
compromised immune system was a very real 
possibility. The country was in full fear of 
coronavirus now and so was I.”

  Melissa, who was  
diagnosed with  
breast cancer  
in 2020.

In 2021, we continued to respond quickly to 
the ever-changing environment caused by the 
pandemic. Our focus was always set on providing 
people living with cancer and their loved ones 
with the care and support they needed, no matter 
where they were in the UK.

Understanding the needs of  
people living with cancer
The impact of the pandemic combined with 
existing gaps in cancer care means too many 
people are not getting the quality of care and 
treatment they need.

As a result, we have conducted a wide range of 
research to gain a better understanding of the 
physical, emotional, financial, and practical needs 
of people living with cancer and how we can  
meet them.

At the start of the year, we published our research 
report: Cancer and Covid: The story so far. It 
features first-hand accounts from people living 
with cancer on the challenges they faced between 
March 2020 and February 2021. The report also 
showcases how Macmillan did whatever it took 
to improve people’s lives during this period; and 
it encouraged other support providers to adopt 
these best practices too.

Through our research, we identified the five most 
common concerns for people living with cancer 
during the pandemic. These were: 

1.  Delays, disruptions and changes to the delivery 
of health services

2.  The increased need for people to manage their 
own health and care

3.  Communication issues, including problems with 
virtual consultations

4.  Unmet needs because of a lack of advice  
or support

5.  Feelings of abandonment because of the focus 
on coronavirus 

These insights helped to inform how we adapted 
our existing services and developed new 
information and support in 2021. We also shared 
these findings with our partners and other service 
providers to help as many people as possible 
receive the cancer care they need. 

For more information on how we influence others, 
refer to page 19.

Supporting people 
during the pandemic

Read more 
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One of our main priorities is to ensure more people 
living with cancer have good conversations with 
healthcare professionals about their all-round 
needs and concerns. 

A key way we’re making this happen is by funding 
more cancer professionals. In 2021, we invested 
over £29 million in 185 new nurse roles, over  
170 more cancer support workers, navigators and 
community link workers, as well as other health 
and social care professionals, for a 3-year  
funding programme. 

Having these roles in place means more holistic 
needs assessments took place last year, and more 
will be carried out in the future. A holistic needs 
assessment is an opportunity for a person with 
cancer to speak to a professional about their 
physical, psychological, spiritual and social needs. 
Following this conversation, a personalised care 
and support plan can be developed to make sure 
that a person’s all-round needs are met.

Providing support 
that’s personal

How does Macmillan  
fund services and 
professional roles with 
partner organisations?
We work with a broad range of partners, 
such as the NHS, local authorities, health 
boards, private organisations and other non-
profit organisations, to develop services and 
professional roles.

The standard arrangement with a partner is 
that we provide a grant to fund a service or 
role for an agreed period. Then the partner 
picks up the ongoing funding, manages the 
service or role, and monitors performance, 
which they report back to us. Funding 
Macmillan professionals in this way means we 
can support more professionals into more 
roles, in a sustainable way, and help as many 
people living with cancer as possible.

Identifying individual needs 

44,000
electronic holistic needs assessments
In 2021, over 44,000 holistic needs assessments 
were carried out to help people living with 
cancer receive the personalised care and support 
they needed. This was a 16% increase on 2020. 

Read more 
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Cancer can be scary, and it often hits people hard 
emotionally. That’s why we’re constantly looking 
at ways we can reach people at diagnosis and 
beyond to provide them and their loved ones with 
the reassurance and support they need. 

Macmillan Buddies
In 2021, our befriending service continued to be an 
emotional lifeline to hundreds of people struggling 
with anxiety and loneliness caused by their cancer 
and the pandemic. Receiving a call once a week, 
for 12 weeks, and from the same volunteer, really 
made a huge difference to many people.

Last year, we also doubled the number of 
languages we offer this service in from 20 to 40. 
Critically, this is helping us support more people 
from ethnic minority communities who often 
struggle to access the cancer care they need.

We are confident that next year it will be safe 
enough for our volunteers from the Buddies 
service to also start providing support in  
people’s homes so they can benefit from  
face-to-face support.

New services to meet emotional needs

A vital lifeline 

678
Macmillan Buddies
678 Macmillan Buddies connected with over 
3,000 people affected by cancer in 2021

The personal touch
“ Being there for a chat really helps people, 

especially if they feel like they are burdening 
their families with their worries or concerns. 
You can just be a listening ear, and often 
people feel better when they have voiced  
their emotions. 

  Some of the people I was partnered with  
for the Buddies programme are my friends  
for life now.”

  Jez, Macmillan Buddy
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Macmillan Wellbeing Coaching
Between May 2020 and May 2021, our volunteer 
coaches delivered over 1,400 one-to-one wellbeing 
sessions to 291 people living with cancer, either on 
the phone or online. 

People had the opportunity to speak openly 
about their concerns and how they were feeling. 
The sessions also allowed them to learn about 
tools and techniques that could help them think in 
different ways and reach their goals. 

Free specialist counselling
In 2020, we teamed up with Bupa to offer up to 
six one-to-one counselling sessions to people 
struggling emotionally because of cancer.

Last year, over 3,000 people were referred to the 
service. Out of this number, 65% of people were 
assessed as having moderate to severe depression 
before using the service. This figure fell to 35% 
after people finished their free sessions with a 
qualified therapist. 

Overall, 80% of the people we spoke to about  
their counselling agreed or strongly agreed that 
their emotional wellbeing needs had been met by 
their sessions. 

Now, we are working hard to make the service  
part of our core offering and expand it so more 
people living with cancer can benefit from this 
specialist counselling.

“ Please, please make a case for this service 
to become permanent and fully funded. Not 
all NHS Trusts have oncology counsellors 
and cancer psychologists, and even if they 
do, the waiting lists are only growing longer. 
This can leave cancer patients feeling really 
adrift and alone. 

  Offering counselling that’s accessible to 
all, regardless of where someone lives or 
which hospital they go to, is one of the most 
helpful things that Macmillan can do.”

  Azmina, Macmillan Cancer Support and 
Information Specialist

“ It’s been so hard after three years of 
treatment to find “me”. Coaching has helped 
me find my normal.”

  Someone who benefited from our Wellbeing 
Coaching service

Read more 
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It’s critical that people know about our wide range 
of services and how they can be used at the point 
of diagnosis and beyond. So in 2021, following 
extensive research, we significantly increased our 
investment in the marketing of our services.

In response to the pandemic, we continued to 
offer face-to-face and remote support to ensure 
people got the support they needed, whenever 
they needed it. The main reasons people 
contacted us were:  

1. Emotional support  
2. Financial support  
3. Medical questions

Improving experiences on our website 
In 2021, we made it easier for people to find the 
information and support that’s right for them. 

This included allowing people to customise their 
website user profiles to receive personalised 
content about our services based on the time a 
person visited our website. For example, if someone 
visited our Macmillan Support Line webpage late at 
night, we directed them to relevant open services. 

We also used tailored pop-up messages on our 
website to help direct people to information and 
support we thought was relevant to them. These 
notifications were informed by the pages on our 
site that a person had previously visited. 

Reaching and supporting  
more people living with cancer

Supporting thousands  
in 2021 

103,000
got in touch
Almost 103,000 people were supported through 
our Support Line by email, phone or webchat

23,500 
signed up
Over 23,500 new people signed up for our 
‘recently diagnosed’ email support service 

22,000
joined
Almost 22,000 new members joined our  
Online Community (+36% on 2020)

Enhancing our Online Community
Our Online Community offers people affected by 
cancer a safe and friendly place to talk to others 
going through similar experiences, 24 hours a day. 

In 2021, over 339,000 unique people accessed the 
Community, after we improved the visibility on 
search engines and enhanced the overall look and 
feel of the community. A space was also created 
for people to share ideas, create polls and upload 
video blogs. We continue to work closely with our 
volunteer Community Champions to ensure it’s an 
engaging space with relevant insight for people 
living with cancer.

Read more 
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In 2021, the 12th year of our partnership with 
Boots, we accomplished a joint ambition 
by doubling the number of Boots Macmillan 
Information Pharmacists (BMIPs) in Boots 
Pharmacy stores. This means there is now a 
BMIP in over 90% of Boots’ 2,200 Pharmacy 
stores across the UK, so even more people will 
have convenient access to specialist information 
and support on living with cancer, right from 
their local Boots Pharmacy store.

In addition, through our partnership and with 
support from the NHS, we launched a new 
Boots Palliative Care Service, offering support 
to those who are at their most vulnerable and in 
end of life care. Boots committed to maintaining 
stock of the essential medicines used by 
terminally ill patients, so they can access these 
with no delay. All BMIPs also received additional 
specialist training to enable them to help 
with specialist palliative and end of life care 
support. Together we want to give everyone, 
everywhere, the cancer information and support 
they need that is reliable, familiar and trusted. 

Invaluable support  
on the high street

Bethan, Boots 
Macmillan Information 
Pharmacist, who 
recently completed 
the BMIP refresher and 
end of life courses.

Whatever it takes
“ I had to apply for Universal Credit but they 

didn’t believe that I was waiting for treatment. 
I appealed through Macmillan, via the 
Macmillan Support Line. They gave me their 
time and straightaway said they’d do it for 
me. They pushed hard and fought my case. 

  My case went to the courts and Macmillan 
continued to fight for me. I had been lonely, 
looking for help and advice for where to 
turn. This was all playing on my mind, but 
Macmillan has helped me in so many ways, 
like a tree with its branches.”

  Naveed, who was diagnosed  
with a rare heart cancer

Making a difference
“ I am already able to see the value of the 

courses within my role. I was contacted by a 
customer a few months after I advised her to 
get a lesion on her neck checked out.  
She told me I saved her life. She was 
reluctant to visit her GP during the 
pandemic but luckily she did, as she went on 
to have several tumours removed, including 
some linked to lymph nodes. I’ve been a 
Boots pharmacist for nearly 36 years and 
that was the best conversation I’ve ever had. 
Made my day, my year, my career!”
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People living with cancer often struggle to 
cope with the financial cost of their illness. This 
is a distressing issue that has been significantly 
heightened by the pandemic’s impact on 
household incomes.

In fact, our research shows that approximately 
160,000 people living with cancer had severe 
financial concerns in 2021. We also know that, on 
average, a cancer diagnosis leads to a £891 drop  
in household income per month, rising to over 
£1,000 in some cases. 

As a result, it’s more important than ever that 
Macmillan is here to provide direct financial 
support and guidance about benefits,  
work issues, energy bills, mortgages, pensions, 
insurance and savings.

£84.6 million
direct gains identified 
In 2021, services delivered directly by us, such  
as our Macmillan Support Line, identified  
£84.6 million of financial gains for people living 
with cancer, a 4% rise on 2020. 

£12 million
given in Macmillan Grants 
We gave over £12 million in Macmillan Grants 
to support just under 34,000 people on low 
incomes who needed immediate help to,  
cope with costs caused by, or related to,  
a cancer diagnosis. 

£218 million
partnerships gains identified 
We also identified almost £218 million in financial 
gains for people living with cancer through the 
benefits services we run in partnership with 
Citizens Advice, NHS trusts, local authorities and 
other organisations. 

£29.5 million
committed 
We committed to fund benefits services for their 
first three years, rather than only 12 months as 
we’ve done previously. This ensures the services 
continue to deliver in their local areas and 
remain the highest standard for people with 
cancer. We’ve already committed £29.5 million 
of funding to these services.

Helping people  
with financial concerns

One less worry 
Struggling to cope with the financial impact of her 
cancer diagnosis, Shola didn’t hesitate to reach out 
to Fiona, the Macmillan Benefits Adviser located at 
her local hospital in London.

“ It was a very stressful time, not knowing how 
long I was going to be off work and then trying 
to negotiate a very complicated benefits 
system. It just made everything more difficult. 

  But Fiona was very understanding. Without 
her help, I might not have applied for a benefit, 
let alone been awarded it. Macmillan’s support 
helped me feel less alone and less isolated.”

  Shola, diagnosed with thymus cancer in 2013 

For more information on how we’re influencing 
governments and partners to help make money 
one less worry for people living with cancer,  
see page 19.
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We are committed to meeting the needs of 
everyone affected by cancer. This includes 
carrying out activities to reach more people from 
communities who don’t always receive the cancer 
information, support and/or care they need. This 
includes, for example, people from Black, Asian 
and minority ethnic communities, lesbian, gay, 
bisexual and trans people, and disabled people.

In 2021, as part of our equity, diversity and 
inclusion strategy, we commissioned an external 
audit of all our services for people living with 
cancer to help us identify how we can make them 
more accessible and inclusive.

We also created our Raising Your Voice toolkit, 
with the help of people from ethnically diverse 
communities, and a community group  
called Well Versed Ink. It used poetry and 
storytelling to empower people to talk about  
their cancer experiences and how support  
services could improve. 

We were also extremely proud to launch our 
Mother Tongue project in 2021. It involved us 
filming people talking about their cancer diagnosis 
in their first language with members of their 
family. The films highlight the challenges people 
from ethnic minority communities face at home, 
in their communities and within the healthcare 
system following a cancer diagnosis. Barriers we’re 
determined to help them overcome. 

For more information on our equity, diversity and 
inclusion strategy, refer to page 51.

Making our services  
more inclusive and accessible

Della’s story 
After Della was diagnosed with breast cancer 
in 2010, her family refused to visit her as they 
were scared they might catch cancer.

“ I was ignorant about cancer before I 
was diagnosed – I felt like it was a white 
person’s disease as no one of my ethnicity 
is ever shown as a cancer patient. 

  The African community believe cancer is a 
curse, which you get because you’ve done 
something bad. But I didn’t let the fear 
get to me. My Macmillan Nurse Charmaine 
encouraged me to go to a support group, 
which was a strange concept at first as 
they don’t exist in Nigeria.”

Della was subsequently inspired to start her own 
support group for Africans affected by cancer 
with help from a Macmillan Grant, and is also 
raising awareness in her home country of Nigeria.

 Read more about the stigma  
 and misconceptions Della faced  

Read more 
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In 2021, we estimated the pandemic has led to around 50,000 missing cancer diagnoses across the UK 
and thousands of people waiting longer than normal for treatment.

In 2021, we campaigned hard to make sure governments and other key decision-makers acted swiftly to 
reduce the cancer backlog and provide people with the care they urgently needed.

We also continued to give a voice to people living with cancer to bring important issues to life; and we 
forged strong partnerships with a range of partners, including other charities, to achieve large-scale change.

Advocating  
for change 
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Over 50 of our awesome campaigners gathered in Westminster to hand in a petition featuring  
more than 55,000 signatures. It called for the Government to invest significantly in the cancer workforce.
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In 2020, our Forgotten ‘C’ campaign focused 
primarily on protecting cancer services to make 
sure the needs of people living with cancer  
were being met during the pandemic. From  
mid-2021, we moved our focus to long-term 
solutions and shone a light on the urgent need 
to support and develop the burnt-out cancer 
workforce, which faced chronic shortages even 
before the pandemic. 

Central to this work was the publication of our 
Cancer Nursing on the Line report. It called on 
the governments in England, Scotland, Wales and 
Northern Ireland to invest £170 million to fund the 
training of nearly 4,000 cancer nurse roles. This 
is the number we estimate is required by 2030 
to provide the growing number of people living 
with cancer with the care they need. The report 
received backing from many key decision-makers 
and the public, and widespread media coverage.

On the back of the report, we also:

Launched a petition calling for investment  
in the cancer workforce. This received over  
55,000 signatures; it was backed by  
61 Parliamentarians, nine all-party Parliamentary 
groups and 21 organisations in an open letter to 
the Chancellor. The government subsequently 
confirmed they would invest hundreds of millions 

in increasing the NHS workforce, which was 
included within the three-year comprehensive 
spending review in October.

Called on governments to deliver cancer 
workforce strategies in each of the four nations. 
We played a key role in cross-party advocacy 
in Westminster, to secure regular independent 
modelling of future workforce needs in healthcare.

Whilst the government promised to provide extra 
funding to ensure a bigger and better trained 
NHS workforce and new funding for the cancer 
workforce, we weren’t successful in securing 
independent accountability for workforce 
sustainability. We continue to fight for long-term, 
independently monitored and fully funded health 
and care workforce strategies. 

Hosted Macmillan Coffee Morning events in  
the UK’s parliaments. These were attended by 
over 215 Parliamentarians from across the UK and 
some of our wonderful Macmillan professionals. 
This gave frontline professionals an opportunity  
to speak directly to decision-makers about  
the need to invest in a new generation of  
cancer professionals. 

Published new analysis on the ongoing scale of 
the cancer care backlog. It revealed that almost 
50,000 people were still missing a cancer diagnosis 
in the UK. In the future, this will place an even 
greater demand on the existing cancer workforce.

The Forgotten ‘C’

In the news 

65%
of decision-makers reached
Our Forgotten ‘C’ campaign led to extensive 
national, regional and local media coverage 
about the shortage of cancer nurses and people 
living with cancer missing out on vital support. 

Overall, we estimate this work resulted in our 
messaging reaching approximately 65% of the  
UK governments’ decision-makers and over 55%  
of the public.

Read more 
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Words from the frontline
“ Uneasiness, anxiety, worry and uncertainty 

were just some of the emotions felt at the 
start of the pandemic, as patient referrals 
decreased exponentially, due to a combination 
of fear, national restrictions and limited access 
to NHS services. 

  Like so many nurses, I was redeployed to 
support a coronavirus ward, which ultimately 
affected the level of support we normally 
offered to patients undergoing cancer 
treatment and those newly diagnosed. 

  Central investment in the cancer workforce 
is crucial, as we recognise significant gaps in 
cancer care support over the past 18 months.”

  Rob, Macmillan Cancer Nurse Specialist
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Macmillan professionals 
Our professionals on the frontline know better than 
anyone the challenges the UK’s cancer workforce 
is up against to deliver the best possible care and 
support. This is why we continue to give them 
platforms to tell their stories to key decision-
makers and the media.

This included five of our fantastic clinical nurse 
specialists attending the Conservative Party 
Conference in Manchester, where they spoke 
directly to over 50 Members of Parliament (MPs), 
including the Prime Minister and four members of 
the Cabinet about issues affecting cancer care.  

We also supported Denise Crouch, Macmillan 
Cancer Lead Nurse at Derby Teaching Hospitals 
NHS Foundation Trust, to give evidence to the 
Health and Social Care Select Committee’s inquiry 
into NHS workforce burnout. Denise told the 
committee how she’d worked 70-hour weeks 
during the first wave of the pandemic and how 
nurses have been, and continue to be, under huge 
pressure mentally.

People living with cancer
Throughout 2021, we helped people living with 
cancer tell their stories and bring to life issues 
affecting them through vital media coverage, to 
help put pressure on decision-makers and reach 
others that may be struggling, so they would know 
they were not alone. This included a diverse range 
of people living with cancer talking about how 
they’d missed out on the care and support they 
needed during the pandemic, despite the best 
efforts of healthcare professionals.

People living with cancer from across the UK also 
spoke about the worries and challenges they 
faced during lockdown and when restrictions 
started to lift. These stories gained comprehensive 
national media coverage and drew attention 
to issues that continue to trouble thousands of 
people with cancer today.

We ensured decision-makers heard first-hand from 
people living with cancer, including Shirley, who 
was diagnosed with breast cancer in 2016. She 
gave evidence to the cross-party Health and Social 
Care Select Committee in September 2021. The 
committee is focused on clearing the backlog of 
health and social cases caused by coronavirus.

Shirley told the committee how she felt 
abandoned during the pandemic and why it’s so 

important that people living with cancer are not 
forgotten about as the NHS continues its recovery: 

“ I should have been followed-up for five years, 
especially as one of my cancers was triple 
negative. However, because of coronavirus 
I have been told I have to self-manage, and 
I hadn’t seen anyone since the pandemic 
started, not even my GP.”

Giving a platform to others

Ruth, whose story supported our Forgotten ‘C’ 
campaign: 

“ One day in particular stands out when I was  
on my third round of chemotherapy and I 
made a cup of tea and got teary because I 
couldn’t remember the last time I had a drink 
with somebody. 

  Then I drank the tea and I thought the milk 
had gone off, but it hadn’t, the chemotherapy 
had affected my taste. I was just sobbing, and 
I rang Macmillan. They explained to me that 
this is all part of the process, reminded me  
it’s not going to last forever and that I was 
doing really well. 

  That was one of my lowest moments, but they 
were there for me, and I now want to give 
something back to them.”
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Macmillan Clinical Nurse Specialists attending the Conservative Party conference in Manchester.
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Tens of thousands of people across the UK 
struggle to pay bills and buy essentials, including 
food, because of the impact cancer has on their 
lives. This is an unacceptable situation that has 
been compounded by the pandemic and the rising 
cost of living.

£891
worse off each month
People living with cancer are, on average, £891 a 
month worse off because of their illness.

83%
impacted
83% of people living with cancer in the UK 
experience negative financial impact because of 
their illness.

50%
reduced earnings
The pandemic has led to over 50% of people with 
cancer leaving their jobs, having their income or 
hours reduced or moving to home-working. 

We want to make money one less worry for 
people living with cancer. We campaigned hard 
for change and drew national media attention to 
the financial cost of cancer. 

But that’s not all. We helped to promote the range 
of financial support we provide to people living 
with cancer, by sharing stories of people who have 
benefited from receiving a Macmillan Grant. These 
featured in 320 pieces of media coverage across the 

UK and, subsequently, we saw an increase in people 
enquiring about this type of financial support.

Universal Credit
We joined a wide range of organisations, including 
many from the charity sector, to support the Keep 
the Lifeline campaign. It called on the Government 
to permanently keep the £20 a week increase to 
the Universal Credit benefit, which was introduced 
in April 2020.

Our activities included adding our signature 
to an open letter to the Prime Minister and 
the Chancellor, as well as speaking directly to 
Parliamentarians about this urgent issue and  
why the uplift is so important to people living  
with cancer. 

We also called on our brilliant campaigners to take 
action, which resulted in them contacting 92% of 
MPs about the need to maintain the £20 increase.

As a result of our work and the Keep the Lifeline 
campaign, the Government extended the £20 
uplift until the end of September 2021. However, 
we were disappointed that a permanent increase 
wasn’t secured. 

The cost of cancer 
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Leading the way 

Macmillan
most mentioned
Macmillan was the charity most mentioned in 
media coverage that focused on Universal Credit 
and people living with cancer.

56%
of decision-makers reached
Our work on this issue led to us reaching 56% of 
national and local government decision-makers 
and 44% of adults in the UK with key messages 
about the financial impact of cancer.

After the media covered our research  
revealing that 100,000 people living with  
cancer were struggling to pay their bills  
because of coronavirus, we saw the following 
potential associations:

15%
increase in calls 
15% increase in calls to our Financial Guidance 
team on the Macmillan Support Line, compared 
with 4 weeks previously.

33%
increase in visits 
33% increase in visits to the benefits and 
financial support page on our website compared 
with the previous year.

A vital lifeline  
for people like Judith
“ My world unravelled when I was told I 

may have months left to live and I had to 
give up work. The £20 per week Universal 
Credit increase I receive goes towards 
the travelling costs I incur for medical 
appointments. 

  The money is important now, more than 
ever before, as it helps me avoid public 
transport during the pandemic, especially 
as restrictions are being lifted while cases 
are rising.

  The extra £80 a month is vital – it means 
it’s one less thing to worry about during an 
already anxious time to have cancer.”

Judith’s story helped to bring to life why the 
Universal Credit increase is so important, after 
she was diagnosed with incurable bile duct 
cancer in 2018.
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One of our priorities is to ensure people living 
with cancer receive high-quality personalised 
care that meets their individual needs. In 2021, this 
involved us influencing key decision-makers and 
asking challenging questions at national policy 
forums. Encouragingly, this work successfully led 
to personalised care featuring more prominently in 
national guidance across the four nations.

UK-wide
Last year, we published our Caught in the 
Maze report, which outlined what national and 
local services need to do to deliver joined-up 
personalised care for people living with cancer. 
Already, local cancer services have used the report 
to secure investment in their support programmes, 
and the report has received praise from various 
ministers and system leaders.

On top of this, we continued to provide the 
secretariat for the All-Party Parliamentary Group 
on Cancer at Westminster. This provided us with 
an excellent opportunity to speak to MPs and 
decision-makers at NHS England about issues 
affecting people living with cancer and what 
needs to be done to address them.

England
In 2021, we pushed for better personalised 
cancer care in England by speaking to ministers 
and advisers in Downing Street, the Department 
of Health and Social Care and NHS England, 
alongside parliamentary committee inquiries about 
the need for and benefits of personalised care.

We helped to shape the National Cancer Patient 
Experience Survey for 2020/21 so it featured 
more questions relating to personalised care. 
Additionally, after years of advocacy and 
partnership work with the NHS, we were delighted 
to see the launch of a new NHS survey and metric 
which helps to measure the quality of life of a 
person living with cancer. In the long-term, we 
hope this will drive greater personalisation and 
better care.

Working with partners to 
achieve large-scale change
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Scotland
We continued to work closely with the Scottish 
Government and local authorities to expand the 
Transforming Cancer Care programmes. This 
ensures more people in Scotland receive the 
personalised emotional, practical and financial 
support they need following a cancer diagnosis.

Last year, we were also delighted the  
Scottish National Party (SNP) made a long-term 
commitment to these programmes in its  
2021 manifesto, and that the country’s new  
health secretary, Humza Yousaf, heralded  
them to the media. 

Overall, our Transforming Cancer Care 
programmes are now viewed as a key part of the 
Scottish Government’s answer to current cancer 
and health service pressures.

Wales
We used our leadership of the Wales Cancer 
Alliance to challenge the Welsh Government to 
prioritise personalised care and the workforce in 
their new national plans for cancer. 

We also secured a commitment from the 
Government to a cancer workforce strategy that 
would meet the recommendations outlined in our 
Cancer Nursing on the Line report.

Northern Ireland
We continued to drive forward the development 
of a national cancer strategy for Northern Ireland. 
This involved us engaging and working with 
key decision-makers, health and social care 
professionals and people living with cancer to 
provide secure high-quality feedback on the 
proposed strategy. 

Last year, we also played a major role in the 
progression of a cancer workforce strategy for 
Northern Ireland. A vital plan of action we hope 
will be finalised in 2022.
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Without our amazing supporters, we simply couldn’t provide so much care and support to 
people living with cancer and their loved ones.

In 2021, despite the continuing challenge of the pandemic, they generously gave their time and  
effort to raise a tremendous £227.5 million.

Brilliantly, this total exceeded our expectations and has put us in a strong financial position. As a result, 
we feel assured we can invest confidently in our services for people living with cancer in 2022.

Raising money  
for vital support 
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Charlotte taking part in our Brave the Shave fundraiser in her workplace.
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Employees at Virgin Money held various fundraisers to raise money for Macmillan.
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Because of the pandemic, our challenge events went virtual for the first half of 2021. When it was safe to 
do so, our amazing runners, hikers, cyclists and swimmers got back to doing what they do best.

Overall, their unrelenting energy and determination meant that 2021 was our most successful fundraising 
year to date for challenge events. This was exactly what we needed after a year of cancellations in 2020.

No challenge too great for  
our supporters and fundraisers 

£227.5 million
raised 
Our supporters raised a whopping  
£227.5 million in 2021, an increase of £42 million 
from 2020.

98%
income donated 
98% of our income comes from money  
donated by our awesome supporters. 

Thank you♥

Read more 
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Over 21,000 people pulled on their walking boots and took part in our 
Mighty Hikes events in England, Scotland and Wales. 

Together, they successfully raised £12.6 million to help fund our vital services 
for people living with cancer.

Proving particularly popular were our 13-mile half-marathon routes, which 
we introduced alongside our traditional 26-mile hikes.

In 2021, we also introduced three new events to our Mighty Hikes routes 
(Yorkshire Dales, Gower Peninsula and Dedham Vale), taking our total 
number of picturesque locations to 11. 

Walk a marathon  
and make a difference 

Leaving a mark for Macmillan 
To mark the anniversary of when he lost his mother to breast cancer, 
Mark completed his first Mighty Hike in 2018. Fast forward to 2021 and 
Mark had signed up to the unbelievable challenge of completing all 
Mighty Hike routes in just one summer. However, during his fundraising, 
his wife Becky was diagnosed with skin cancer.

“ It came as a huge shock to us both. Luckily, surgery followed 
very quickly, and she was given the all-clear on 1st September, 
which certainly put a spring in my step over those huge Jurassic 
coast hills! Completing every single Mighty Hikes route was a big 
achievement for me, but it is important to say that none of this 
was about me. It was all about raising money for Macmillan and 
doing the hikes for all the people who are unable to.”
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We had the honour of being charity of the year 
for the 2021 Virgin Money London Marathon in 
October, a special partnership that resulted in 
many great achievements throughout the past  
12 months. Over 1,220 runners helped us turn the 
capital green to raise money for, and awareness of, 
the vital services we provide for people with cancer.

Hundreds more took on a virtual 26-mile course 
and together, their tremendous efforts raised  
£2.4 million, which exceeded our fundraising target 
of £2.1 million. 

On top of this, over £500,000 was generated 
through our partnership with Virgin Money. This 
was achieved through colleague fundraising 
activities, customer donations, and banking 
product promotions. 

As part of our wider partnership with Virgin Money, 
Macmillan provided bespoke training to selected 
members of staff so they could become a Virgin 
Money Macmillan Guide. In this unique role, they 
provide expert information, offer emotional 
support and direct people living with cancer to 
other helpful services.

Now, as our partnership with Virgin Money has 
been extended for a further two years, we’re 
looking forward to building on this success.

Virgin Money  
London Marathon

Will goes the distance 
Inspired by his late mum, who was cared for 
by Macmillan, Will completed a formidable 
challenge in 2021: running a marathon in 
each of England’s 48 counties in just 30 days. 
Speaking after completing his final leg and 
raising over £37,000, Will said, 

“ My feelings are hard to pinpoint, as trying 
to think about the whole challenge is 
overwhelming. What I do know is that I feel 
tremendously proud to have done what I 
did in my mum’s honour and for Macmillan 
Cancer Support, who have supported me 
through the whole process.”
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Lockdown restrictions and uncertainty around social distancing led to fewer 
people taking part in Macmillan Coffee Morning 2021 than we’d hoped. The 
good news is we had almost 70,000 registrations which was still higher than in 
2020, and we are so grateful to everyone who took part.

Famous faces who raised a cuppa last year and helped to promote the event 
included actor Larry Lamb, broadcaster Victoria Derbyshire and TV personality 
Alison Hammond.

We also called on the public to email their MPs and encourage them to join 
a special Coffee Morning at Westminster. In response, over 200 MPs came 
together for a reception in the Houses of Parliament. The event was attended 
by some of our incredible Macmillan nurses, who spoke to MPs about the need 
for greater investment in cancer nursing.

Macmillan  
Coffee Morning 

£13.3 million
raised 
Macmillan Coffee Morning 2021 
raised a fantastic £13.3 million -  
£3.3 million more than 2020.

12th
year 
Marks & Spencer was our headline 
partner for the 12th year in a row.

£500,000
raised 
Betty Crocker and NESCAFÉ 
Original, our official Coffee Morning 
sponsors, raised over £500,000.

13,000
conversations 
Our tweet about the UK’s best-
loved biscuits instigated 13,000 
conversations on Twitter and 
attracted national media attention.
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Over 3,000 people generously left us a gift in their will in 2021. This resulted in us receiving an incredible 
£90.4 million (an increase of £18.6 million from 2020) to help ensure everyone with cancer gets the care they need. 

Gifts in wills

60 million
reached 
Our new gifts in wills TV advert helped us reach 
an estimated 60 million people in 2021.

We’re now looking to expand the campaign in 
2022 by investing in new communication channels, 
so that as many people as possible learn about this 
special way of supporting our services. 

A loving legacy 
Chris’s late mother Beryl received excellent 
support from Macmillan nurses before she passed 
away in 2011. Chris subsequently attended one 
of our talks about gifts in wills at the Macmillan 
Horizon Centre in Brighton. Inspired to help other 
people receive the same high-quality care, Chris 
has decided to leave a gift in his will to Macmillan.

Thank you, Chris.

The Macmillan Ball in London raised over  
£500,000 and was attended by 320 supporters.

We launched a new 
legacies TV advert to build 
awareness of gifts in wills 
and their long-standing 
impact on Macmillan.

See more 
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Despite another challenging year, our corporate 
partners achieved incredible fundraising success 
through a great mix of activities, customer and 
staff donations, product sales and sponsorships. 

A huge thank you to everyone who got involved. 
We can’t wait to see the fun, creative and 
downright wacky fundraising you get up to in 2022.

£19 million
income
Our income from corporate partnerships passed 
£19 million in 2021. Thank you to everyone who 
made this possible.

Boots UK reached another incredible achievement 
this year with the partnership hitting the  
£20 million fundraising milestone. This is due to 
the unwavering support of Boots UK employees, 
customers and partners.

Greene King smashed their fundraising target 
and raised an amazing £2.2 million, with generous 
customer donations, Coffee Mornings and 
colleagues taking part in challenge events such 
as Brave the Shave, ice bucket challenges, cycles, 
walks and runs.

CBRE, the real estate adviser, became a new 
corporate partner in 2021 and raised over £300,000 
in their first year, which funded six roles on the 
Macmillan Support Line. One hundred CBRE 
colleagues also became Macmillan volunteers and 
generously donated 994 hours of their time to help 
support people living with cancer in a range of ways.

Marks & Spencer raised over £1.7 million as 
our Coffee Morning headline partner. This 
fantastic amount was reached through colleague 
fundraising activities, customer donations, Sparks 
loyalty card donations and the sale of Coffee 
Morning products, including a Macmillan-themed 
Colin the Caterpillar cake.

Betty Crocker and NESCAFÉ Original raised over 
£500,000 as our official Coffee Morning sponsors 
and promoted the event to thousands of people 
across the UK. 

National Garden Scheme, our longest serving 
partner, donated £500,000 towards the Y Bwthyn 
NGS Macmillan Specialist Palliative Care Unit in 
South Wales. This means they’ve now donated a 
massive £18 million since 1984. 

Toolstation surpassed all expectations and raised 
a brilliant £580,000 through customer donations, 
raffles, bake sales, challenge events and many 
more fundraising activities. 

Motor Fuel Group became one of our corporate 
partners in April 2021 and managed to raise an 
impressive £515,000 in just nine months. Beyond 
fundraising, Motor Fuel Group also provided us 
with free advertising on fuel pumps in almost 600 
UK locations. This hugely generous gift allowed us 
to promote our Support Line to millions of people.

Corporate partnerships

Prince Charles visits the Y Bwthyn NGS. The team at Motor Fuel Group.
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With the pandemic changing the ways we spent 
time with friends and family in 2021, we focused on 
developing new fundraising activities that could 
be done indoors or by individuals. 

Games Night In 
Launched in 2020, Games Night In involves people 
playing virtual games, including Whodunnit, in the 
comfort of their homes. Last year, we built on the 
success of the fundraiser’s first year and managed 
to encourage 58,000 people to play and raise over 
£1.2 million at the same time. 

Facebook challenges
We promoted various Facebook challenges to 
supporters, including ’26 miles in 26 days’ and 
‘a mile a day in May’. The two most successful 
Facebook challenges raised over £4 million 
combined – ‘100 squats a day’ and ‘Walk 100k with 
your dog in November’. A huge success we hope 
to repeat in 2022 with other similar challenges. 

Digital fundraising 
In 2021, our amazing supporters donated  
£2.1 million by using QR codes and contactless 
card readers. This was £500,000 more than 
in 2021. Through the QR code included in our 
Coffee Morning packs alone, we raised £567,000 
in donations compared to the total of £304,000 
in contactless donations for Coffee Morning 
2020. However, we feel there are plenty more 
opportunities to grow our digital fundraising and 
achieve even better results in 2022.

100
new ideas
In 2021, we developed over 100 new fundraising 
ideas, tested 31 of them and launched four trial 
fundraisers on a reduced scale to see how they 
performed. 

£2.5 million 
raised
Altogether, our innovation work raised  
£2.5 million to help meet the needs of people 
living with cancer.

Finding new ways  
of raising money

A remarkable voyage 
Olle of Ipswich raised over £27,000 for our 
vital services after we supported his late 
daughter, Toni, following a diagnosis of 
pancreatic cancer.

He did this by embarking on a four-month 
sailing voyage around the UK. But what’s 
particularly remarkable about Olle’s story is 
that he was being treated for bowel cancer 
at the same time. 

This meant Olle took chemotherapy tablets 
while on his yacht Renegade; and he even 
paused his trip when he reached Scotland, 
so he could return home for five weeks of 
radiotherapy.

Sadly, Olle, who was 63, passed away in 
November 2021, just two months after 
completing his remarkable challenge.  
Thank you, Olle.
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We couldn’t help so many people living with cancer if it wasn’t for 
the trusts, major donors and organisations who support our work 
with truly transformative gifts. 

A huge thank you to every one of you for your incredible generosity.

An interview with  
Sir Robert Ogden, CBE Hon LLD 
15th January 1936 – 6th March 2022 

For more than 50 years, Sir Robert Ogden played an integral role in 
helping us transform cancer care in Yorkshire. As Macmillan’s largest 
individual donor his vision and commitment enabled thousands  
of people living with cancer and their families to receive the care  
and support they needed during some of the most difficult times  
in their lives. 

What first inspired you to become a supporter of Macmillan? 

I was impressed by Macmillan’s vision to see cancer care and support 
made available to all and by the rigour with which the charity was 
driving forward change. 

How has cancer care and support changed in the years you have 
been supporting Macmillan? 

In the early 1970s, cancer was seen by many as a death sentence. 
Information and support were hard to find and there were very few 
specialist cancer nurses or professionals working in the healthcare 
system. Today, more people are surviving cancer and living for longer 
than ever before.

The landscape and nature of cancer care itself has changed 
considerably, adapting over the past 50 years to meet patients’ 
evolving needs. 

But despite the progress made, there is still so much to do. Major 
advances through science and technology will change the scenery of 
cancer care. If we harness the collective expertise and tools available 
to us, to continue delivering the highest standard cancer care in our 
cancer centres, I am confident the next decades will bring positive 
transformations beyond our wildest dreams.

The power  
of philanthropy

“ I feel not only humbled 
and privileged to be 
able to help others, 
I feel happily 
obliged to do so.”
Sir Robert Ogden, CBE Hon LLD
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When you look back on your time supporting Macmillan,  
what are you most proud of? 

My personal passion has been to support the development of high-
quality care and support for people dealing with a cancer diagnosis. 
Over the years, I have funded three major cancer centres; the first of 
which was in Leeds and was the first of its kind in Yorkshire, pioneering 
a new approach that gave people with cancer personalised support in an 
exceptional and tranquil care environment.

Through The Sir Robert Ogden Charitable Foundation (registered 
number 1180422) and in partnership with Macmillan Cancer Support, 
Lady Ogden and I developed a further two new centres of excellence at 
Harrogate in 2014 and Northallerton in 2018, providing both financial and 
building design support. Each of these centres has been designed with 
the patients’ needs in mind and to deliver high-quality cancer care. 

The Sir Robert Ogden Charitable Foundation will continue my charitable 
legacy for many generations to come, identifying and developing new 
cancer centres in areas of most need in Yorkshire and new ways to 
exceed the expectations on quality treatments and care for people 
living with cancer and their families.

I take the opportunity to thank the outstanding teams of cancer care 
professionals who work in these centres – I believe their dedication and 
competence will leave a lasting legacy of high-quality cancer care that will 
benefit patients for decades to come.

I often receive very touching letters from patients and family members 
who have been receiving treatment and support at one of The Sir 
Robert Ogden Macmillan Centres. Sometimes these letters are from 
people I know, but it’s the ones from the people I’ve never met that 
make me feel the most humbled. It’s a privilege to have people share 
their personal experiences with me in this way and to know the 
difference the centres are making to people’s lives.

What advice would you give to the next generation  
of philanthropists? 

There is nothing more fulfilling in life than being able to help not only the 
ones you know or the ones around you, but to be able to help people 
beyond. Helping others in need, whether that’s by dedicating your 
time or donating funds to a cause you really believe in, brings the most 
profound happiness in the purest sense. I feel not only humbled and 
privileged to be able to help others, I feel happily obliged to do so.  

Thank you Sir Robert for your exceptional support for Macmillan’s work. 

Sir Robert at The Sir Robert Ogden Macmillan Centre in Harrogate.
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“ If we can continue to do 
this and other good work  
in the UK, then the work  
of the Foundation would 
have been well rewarded.” 
Iqbal Khan.

        Baraka wrote 

“  I am supporting Macmillan 
in the hope that no one is 
ever alone in their fight.”

The Baraka Khan Foundation
The Baraka Khan Foundation was created in 2016 in loving memory of 
Baraka, who lost her valiant battle with lung cancer at the age of 24. On 
the day of her diagnosis, Baraka was supported by a Macmillan nurse 
who was on hand for emotional support – she also accessed Macmillan’s 
specialist information and support during her treatment. Baraka raised 
nearly £750,000 (and counting!) for charitable causes that were close to 
her heart, including Macmillan. 

Baraka’s family and friends continue this 
incredible legacy by turning grief into 
a source of positive energy and doing 
good – from helping Macmillan evolve to 
develop stronger relationships with Muslim 
communities, to generously donating 
towards our Support Line Service.  
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Macmillan Endowment Fund 
Last year, we established the Macmillan Endowment Fund to ensure we 
can be there for people living with cancer for generations to come.

When someone gives to the Endowment Fund, their donation will be 
invested to support the long-term sustainability of Macmillan’s work. The 
investment income from their donation will be used to fund our services 
in the present day, while the original gift amount remains intact and can 
be used to support people in the future.

Already, the fund has proved popular with many supporters, with one 
donor pledging a multi-million-pound gift in their will following the 
invaluable support provided by Macmillan nurses during the last days of 
their father’s life. This gift will have a real and lasting impact, supporting 
people living with cancer for many years to come.

“ Every penny 
that I will give 
is assured as 
a contribution 
for my life 
and beyond.” 
Trevor, donor to the Macmillan Endowment Fund
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As an organisation, we do whatever it takes to make sure everyone with cancer 
gets the care they need.

This includes developing and implementing policies and procedures that ensure 
our employees, volunteers, professionals, and supporters reflect the communities 
we help and achieve the highest standards.

To support this, we provide a wide range of high-quality training and resources. 
We also robustly record our decisions and incidents, monitor our performance and 
gather feedback to make sure we constantly learn and improve.

How we work 
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Helen is a Macmillan Colorectal Nurse Specialist at University Hospitals of South Manchester NHS Trust.
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Our aim is to provide our people with everything 
they need to excel in their roles, fulfil their 
potential and support their wellbeing. In 2021, this 
involved us developing a range of new resources 
and providing extra care and support to meet 
people’s needs during the pandemic.

Our cancer care professionals
For healthcare professionals, the pandemic has 
made a tough job even tougher. We have seen 
first-hand how hard NHS staff have been working 
and supporting our frontline cancer workers has 
never been more crucial. Giving excellent support 
to our frontline cancer workers improves the care 
they provide to people living with cancer, helps to 
advance their professional development, and leads 
to more people using our services and getting the 
best personalised care.

In response to this, in May we launched the 
Learning and Communications Hub, an online 
site for professionals to access all our learning 
and development resources to support them in 
their role. The hub gives our cancer workforce 
instant access to a wealth of expert information 
and training in one place and makes it easier for 
professionals to connect with each other.

We also engaged with and supported more 
professionals by hosting a hybrid conference and 
awards ceremony in Manchester. This gave us 
the opportunity to thank, inform and reconnect 
members of our inspiring cancer workforce in 
person and virtually across the UK. Almost 600 
professionals attended the conference, either in 
Manchester or online. This was 33% more people 
compared to the last in-person only event in 2019.

Supporting our people  

Learning and 
Communications Hub -  
the facts 

10,130 
signed up
10,130 professionals signed up  
following our 2021 launch.

2,744 
attendees
2,744 people have attended  
350 virtual classroom events so far.

28 
free courses
28 free learning courses opportunities  
are currently available. 

Read more 
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A terrific team effort 
At Macmillan, we put the experiences and 
expertise of people living with cancer at the 
heart of our services. This is an approach 
exemplified by the Macmillan Cancer 
Information and Support team at Calderdale 
Royal Hospital and Huddersfield Royal 
Infirmary, who were award winners at the 
Professionals Conference 2021.

First, they worked closely with members 
of their Cancer Patient Focus Group to 
design and launch a Health and Wellbeing 
Programme for people living with cancer. 
Then when the pandemic struck, they called 
again on the fantastic Focus Group to help 
them rapidly rethink the programme so it 
could work equally well online. 

Helen, Macmillan Information and Support 
Service Manager at Calderdale Royal Hospital 
and Huddersfield Royal Infirmary, says, 

“Doing things virtually meant people who 
were isolating and shielding, and extremely 
anxious, could access that beneficial  
peer support.” 

Rob, a member of the Cancer Patient Focus 
Group, adds, 

“ Everyone listens to the patients at the 
focus group. I’m not from a medical 
background. The only experience I have is 
going through cancer treatment. But it’s 
vital that voices like mine are heard.”
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Our supporters and volunteers 
In 2021, we provided extra tailored support and 
thanking of our supporters and volunteers on 
a more individual level. For our volunteers, this 
included the hosting of three virtual webinars 
for around 400 volunteers who connected with 
each other, heard from members of the Macmillan 
leadership team and learned more about the different 
ways their volunteering helps to change lives.  

As a result of the webinars, 89% of attendees  
said they felt more connected to Macmillan. 
Overall, we received very positive feedback 
from supporters and volunteers on our more 
personalised approach.

Whilst supporting our active volunteers continued 
to be a priority, we were equally as passionate 
about supporting those volunteers who needed 
to temporarily step down during the height 
of the pandemic. We focused on keeping all 
volunteers engaged at this time through regular 
communication and updates, which was vital in 
ensuring that once safe to do so, our volunteering 
services could resume in-person once again. 

7,000 
volunteers
In 2021, we had over 7,000 inspiring volunteers 
support people living with cancer.

51 
hours donated
On average, each of these volunteers donated  
51 hours of their time throughout the year.

9,000 
supported
We provided more personalised support to 9,000 
supporters, including those who took part in 
Mighty Hikes, Coffee Morning and corporate 
partnership events. Together, they raised over 
£5.2 million in 2021. 

A big family 
“ As a volunteer, Macmillan has been an 

amazing charity to be part of. Right from 
registering, through the training and 
inductions, to supporting me now, when I 
am taking a short break from volunteering.

  The support for volunteers is extremely 
well organised and you feel like you are 
part of a big volunteer family and really 
appreciated. Volunteering is about giving 
up your time and effort, but it’s also about 
becoming part of something bigger.”

  Bianca, who volunteered on our  
Macmillan Buddies Service 
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Our employees
Throughout 2021, many of our employees worked 
from home but some started to use our offices on 
a part-time basis, when it was safe to do so.

To ensure they felt fully supported during this  
time, and to help them thrive in their roles, we did 
the following: 

•  Promoted our wellbeing support offer which 
includes a telephone support service and 
counselling, access to mental health first aiders 
and wellbeing champions

•  Introduced a flexible furlough scheme for working 
families and carers and topped up the allowances 
of employees on furlough to ensure they received 
100% of their salary

•  Provided training opportunities so all employees 
could focus on their personal development and 
career progression

•  Provided additional support for those with line 
management responsibilities, to support and lead 
employees remotely

Caring for our people
In 2021, we started to offer our volunteers 
and Macmillan professionals an assistance 
package, just like we do for our employees. 
This means they can now access free legal 
advice or mental health support, if they  
ever need it.
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We want everyone we interact with to feel 
free from undue influence when they consider 
donating. This includes anyone who may be in 
a temporary or permanent vulnerable state and 
unable to make an informed decision about giving. 

There are lots of reasons why someone might be 
vulnerable, and we need to be able to spot the 
signs. We train our employees and fundraising 
suppliers to recognise these signs, so they 
can manage conversations and act in the most 
appropriate way.

We define our processes and procedures on 
vulnerability in our ‘Fundraising with people in 
vulnerable circumstances’ policy, which forms  
part of our fundraising supplier contracts.  
The policy includes the steps to take when  
vulnerability is identified. 

We also make sure our fundraising scripts and 
training materials reflect our policy. We have 
developed the policy to prevent people who 
represent Macmillan from behaving in a way that 
could be considered intrusive or putting repeated 
or undue pressure on someone to donate.

Our Compliance team routinely monitor our 
fundraising materials and how our suppliers 
perform, such as through call monitoring and 
mystery shopping. This ensures our standards 
remain high and we treat our supporters fairly. We 
regularly review feedback from our supporters 
and other interested parties to ensure our 
fundraising offer is appropriate and complies with 
relevant rules and regulations. We adhere to, 
and are committed to meeting the standards in, 
the Fundraising Regulator’s Code of Fundraising 
Practice. In 2021, there were no complaints logged 
with the Fundraising Regulator against our charity. 

In response to the Government’s changing 
guidance on coronavirus, the Fundraising Regulator 
regularly updated its published guidance in 2021 
on public fundraising for charities. This guidance 
recognised that the number of people who may 
be vulnerable was likely to be higher because of 
the pandemic. We reviewed and updated our risk 
assessments and put appropriate measures and 
training in place for employees and fundraising 
suppliers to recognise the signs, so they could 
continue to manage conversations with the 
vulnerable and take the most appropriate action. 

To help protect people in vulnerable 
circumstances, we continued to follow guidance 
from the Government and the Fundraising 
Regulator and only carried out public fundraising 
when we considered it safe to do so. We carried 
out the same level of increased monitoring of our 
fundraising suppliers as in 2020, all of who comply 
with the Fundraising Code of Practice, and we 
continued to speak to more supporters  
to make sure our standards stayed high during  
the pandemic.

Protecting our supporters
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In 2021, we received just over 3,000 complaints, 
which is 1,400 fewer than in 2020. 1,600 of these 
complaints were specific to our fundraising, 
marketing and communications operations. 

Our new approach to feedback encourages our 
employees to capture all individual comments 
about how we can improve, not just complaints. 
Therefore, we now actively monitor responses to 
our social media posts. In 2021, there were just 
over 9,000 expressions of dissatisfaction to our 
social media posts. 

Most of the comments we received were  
from people who felt we could have done more  
to support their fundraising efforts. The other  
main areas of complaint focused on 
communication errors and concerns that products 
or campaigns were insensitive.

We take all negative feedback very seriously, 
respond to every piece individually and aim to 
learn from everything we’re told, whether positive 
or negative. We also review the performance of 
fundraising partners and take action to address 
complaints from our supporters. 

We take great interest in listening to what our 
customers have to say about us, whether this 
is negative or positive. All feedback is key to us 
continuously improving the experience for  
our supporters, volunteers and for people  
living with cancer.  

Using feedback  
to constantly improve

We are committed to maintaining high ethical 
standards, and we make sure that our activities 
and those of our partners and suppliers are in 
line with our values. We follow sector guidance 
and best practice, including Charity Commission 
guidance and the National Council for Voluntary 
Organisations’ ethical principles. 

We have a duty under charity law to maximise 
Macmillan’s income and, therefore, our expenditure 
on charitable activities. However, it’s essential that 
we don’t let our relationships with third parties 
undermine our values.

Our ethics policy puts people living with cancer 
at the centre of our decision-making, and we 
regularly review and update this. Our policy and 
procedures help us manage ethical issues,  
such as deciding whether to accept or refuse a 
donation, partner with other organisations, or 
make an investment.

Considering 
ethical issues 
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From our employees, to our supporters and to the 
people we help, everyone should feel welcome, 
represented and valued at Macmillan, regardless of 
their background. 

In 2019, we introduced employee networks.  
Our employee networks bring together specific 
groups of colleagues and amplify their voices, 
as well as creating communities of support and 
enabling individuals to network and socialise with 
like-minded people.

Last year, we continued to make improvements 
towards becoming a more equitable, diverse and 
inclusive organisation by carrying out a wide range 
of initiatives, including:

Employee networks
Our networks championed inclusion and 
demonstrated a culture of openness and honesty 
by sharing their experiences, and resources, with 
their colleagues through internal communication 
activity. They also provided peer support by 
further expanding the people that can be involved 
in our networks, including, creating new networks 
for mental health and employees with a lived 
experience of cancer, and a sub-group of our 
working families network for parents of children 
with additional needs.

The Macmillan Census 

We launched our first Macmillan Census to 
understand our employees better and track 
whether our policies and processes were leading 
to equity and diversity in our workforce. 

Perspectives Panels

To help promote diversity and inclusion, we hosted 
a series of webinars which gave employees and 
external experts a platform to share their personal 
experiences and what they value in life. Our panels 
throughout 2021 focused on International Women’s 
Day, mental health awareness, International Day of 
People with Disabilities, LGBTQ and Pride, race and 
ethnicity, and neurodiversity.

Improving equity,  
diversity and inclusion

Black, 
Asian &  
Minority
Ethnicity

Employees 
living  

with cancer

Disabled 
employees

Gender 
equalityLGBTQ+ Mental  

health
Neuro- 

diversity
Working 
families

Our employee networks
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To ensure everyone with cancer gets the care they need, it’s 
critical we have strong, effective relationships with our service 
delivery partners, such as hospitals and local councils. 

To make this happen, we continued to develop systems and 
processes in 2021 so partners have an even clearer understanding 
of what we expect them to do for people living with cancer. 

We also continued to place a strong emphasis  
on partners capturing quality data about the services they 
provide, so we can work more efficiently together.

Providing  
excellent services with 
our partners

Brand audit
We commissioned an audit of our brand, marketing 
and products to assess whether they were 
representing the people we support and inclusive 
to everyone. As a result, we now have an action 
plan that will help us avoid bias and stereotyping 
and use more inclusive language and imagery.

For more information on how we’re making our 
services more accessible, please refer to page 18.

Perspectives Panels
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We are in a strong and better than anticipated financial position following the difficult savings decisions we had to make in 2020. 
Although there is still some uncertainty, we feel confident in increasing our investment in our strategy to support more people living 
with cancer, which will see us investing in skills, capability and capacity in a carefully managed way over the next few years. We are 
confident that Macmillan remains a financially stable organisation and that we are well positioned to operate as effectively as possible. 

We made difficult spending decisions in 2020 to make sure what we spent delivered the most impact for people living with cancer.  
These decisions helped put our organisation in a stronger financial position in 2021. 

How we manage  
the money you give us 
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£230.7 
million

Total income

We raised £230.2 million in 2021 from our superb supporters and grant income.

Legacy income £90.4 million
This is from people leaving a gift to us in their will.

Donation income £119.6 million
Fundraising events  £51.2 million
Includes national, challenge and local events.
Direct marketing £29.6 million
Money raised by activities like direct debit  
campaigns and mailings.
Corporate income £16.6 million
Income from corporate partners and supporters.
General donations £13.4 million
We raise lots of money from general donations by the public.
Philanthropy £5.8 million
Donations from trusts and major donors.
Local fundraising committees £2.2 million
Donation income raised and collected by fundraising  
committees in their local communities.
Donated services and facilities £0.8 million
The value of services and facilities donated to us.

Grant income £2.7 million
Income awarded by grant-giving bodies given  
to support Macmillan initiatives.

Trading activities  £17.5 million
Includes income from our raffles and lotteries,  
fundraising committee sales, online shop, licensing  
and other commercial activities.

£230.2 million
Total income before investment income

£0.5 million
Investment income

How we raised our money in 2021
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£234.1 
million
Total expenditure

We spent £180.7 million on services for people affected by cancer.*

Healthcare  £62.3 million
We fund and support a range of health and social care professionals.

Financial support  £55.5 million
We provide financial support to help people who are  
struggling with the cost of cancer, including through Macmillan  
grants, benefits advice and financial guidance.

Campaigning and raising awareness  £20.8 million
We campaign for changes to improve the lives of people affected  
by cancer and raise awareness of issues most important to them.

Information and support  £28.5 million
We provide people with information to help them make  
important decisions about their treatment and care.

Practical and emotional support  £9.7 million
We help people find the emotional support they need and  
get help with the practical issues arising from cancer.

Learning and development  £3.9 million
This includes providing training opportunities for  
professionals, volunteers and people affected by cancer.

*Figure does not include grant releases and discounting adjustments
In-year charitable expenditure  £180.7 million 
Prior year grant writebacks and discounting adjustments  -£9.1 million 
Total expenditure on charitable activities  £171.6 million

£171.6 million
Total expenditure on charitable activities

£62.5 million
Expenditure on raising income

How we spent our money in 2021



We generated income totalling £230.7 million 
in 2021, which returns us to our pre-pandemic 
fundraised income levels. This a fantastic 
achievement given all the challenges that the 
coronavirus pandemic has thrown at us over the 
last two years, and represents an increase of 18% 
compared to 2020.

This is thanks to our generous and loyal supporters 
and the huge efforts of our volunteers and 
employees to continue to fundraise and innovate 
during 2021. 

2018-2021 income levels 
We are almost entirely funded by charitable 
donations from the general public. Overall, 
98% of our income – £227.5 million – came from 
fundraising activities. The remaining 2% came from 
grant income and investments. Importantly, we 
have a strong and diverse portfolio of fundraising 
income streams, having consistently invested in 
fundraising innovation for many years.

As the number of people diagnosed with cancer 
increases, so does the need for our services. A gift 
left in a will (legacy) could help ensure that we can 
continue to be there to meet this future need. Last 
year, legacy income increased by 26% to £90.4 
million, the most we’ve ever raised in a single year. 
This is mainly due to a number of large legacies 

being recognised during the year, also resulting 
in an increase in our legacy debtors at year end, 
which increased from £58.5 million to £69.6 million. 
Legacies continue to be our biggest single source 
of revenue, making up 39% of our total fundraised 
income, and therefore we will continue to invest in 
this area. 

For more information on Gifts in Wills, see page 36.

Our donation income is made up of multiple 
income streams and for 2021 totalled £119.6 million 
(2020: £97.2 million), an increase of 23%. This 
includes money raised through national events 
such as Macmillan’s Coffee Morning, challenge 
events, corporate supporters, direct marketing, 
trusts and major donors, as well as income 
generated by our active volunteer fundraising 
committees across the UK. 

The Mighty Hikes series was a fundraising highlight 
in 2021, generating over £12.6 million, an increase 
of £10.8 million from 2020, due to this activity 
being largely cancelled due to the coronavirus 
pandemic in 2020. During 2021 we expanded the 
Mighty Hikes series, with additional locations and 
the introduction of half-marathon routes which 
proved a huge success. 

Grant income for 2021 totalled £2.7 million, a 
decrease from £8.1 million in 2020, mainly due 
to the £4.9 million reduction in income from the 
Government’s Job Retention Scheme, following  
the closure of the furlough scheme during 2021. 
Grant income includes £2.1 million from the 
Scottish Government for the Improving Cancer 
Journey Programme. 

Our income

Fundraised income bounced back to pre-pandemic levels

2018 2019 2020 2021
£50 million

£100 million

£150 million

£200 million

£250 million
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2021 saw us able to increase our charitable spend, 
spending £171.6 million on services for people living 
with cancer in 2021, compared to £89.3 million  
in 2020. Our strategic reports on pages 9 to 69  
explain what we did last year and what we achieved 
with the money we spent.

Having achieved pre-pandemic levels of income 
during 2021 and continuing to project income above 
these levels from 2022 onwards, this will allow for 
continued additional investment in our services. 

We regularly monitor and track our income and 
expenditure to respond appropriately to the 
changing environment. This agile approach enabled 
us to prioritise spending on services to deliver the 
greatest impact to those who need us most. 

There are two main ways we develop services:

a)  Our direct services 
We fund some services directly and employ 
the people who deliver them. For example, 
our Macmillan Support Line. Our expert teams 
provide vital support and guidance to everyone 
who needs it, from answering clinical questions, 
to helping ease money worries, or providing 
someone to talk to who understands what 
they are going through. We also give individual 
patient grants to people on low incomes  
who are struggling with their finances after a 
cancer diagnosis.

b)  Working with partners  
We also develop services by working with 
a broad range of partners such as the NHS, 
local authorities, health boards, commercial 
organisations, and other charities and  
non-profit organisations. This involves our team 
of managers working with partner organisations 
in their locality to develop the requirements 
for and negotiate the funding of a service. The 
standard arrangement is that we provide a grant 
to fund a service for an agreed period and then 
a partner organisation picks up the ongoing 
funding, recruits the professionals to deliver the 
service and monitors the ongoing delivery of 
the service.

In 2021, services delivered directly by us, such as 
our Macmillan Support Line, identified £84.6 million 
of financial gains for people living with cancer, 
a 4% rise on 2020. We increased our spend on 
support line services to £20.2 million, an increase 
of 20% compared to 2020. We also identified 
almost £218 million in financial gains for people 
living with cancer through the benefits services  
we run in partnership with Citizens Advice, NHS 
trusts, local authorities and other organisations. 
There continue to be delays in the benefits  
system, including benefits received by people at 
the end of their life. To help make money one less 
worry, we drew media attention to some of these 
issues to raise political and media pressure to 
resolve them.

In 2021 we spent £12.2 million on providing 
grants to over 33,000 people who were facing 
financial hardship, an increase of 34% from 2020. 
The grants offer people a speedy lifeline when 
financial problems arise that relate to their cancer. 
They help pay for a wide variety of things – from 
essential items like a new washing machine, to fuel 
bills, or even to fund a much-needed break. 

Funding our services
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In July 2021 we agreed additional investment of 
£46.9 million in our services including extending 
our focus on psychosocial care and filling the 
gaps in our local information and welfare partner 
services. It is worth noting that during 2021 we 
made a change to our welfare benefit partner 
contracts, extending these to three years from 
one year. We have therefore accounted for the 
full three years of expenditure in 2021, which has 
caused a spike in expenditure in 2021 but will  
result in a fall in 2022 and 2023.

In 2021, we campaigned hard to make sure the 
Governments and other key decision-makers acted 
swiftly to reduce the cancer backlog and provide 
people with the care they urgently needed.

Over 7,600 Macmillan roles employed and 
managed by our partners were active across the 
UK in 2021, all working to improve the lives of 
people living with cancer. This includes over 4,500 
nursing related posts, over 500 support worker 
posts and over 850 allied health professional posts.
We generally fund new Macmillan professionals 
for a fixed period. After this time, the partner 
organisation takes over the funding of their 
salary. Macmillan continues to provide ongoing 
professional development and support. Funding 
Macmillan professionals in this way means we can 
support more professionals into more roles, in a 
sustainable way.

During 2021 we made grant commitments to 
partner organisations totalling £76.4 million, a 
significant increase from 2020 when we saw a 
pause in grant commitments to partners as a result 
of the pandemic. 

The cost of raising our income in 2021 was  
£62.5 million, a 7% increase on 2020, due to the 
increase in our activities following a year of ‘pause’ 
due to the pandemic. We will continue to keep 
a very close eye on all our costs and fundraising 
activities, to make sure that we are making the 
most of all our resources.

You’ll find a more detailed analysis of our charitable 
expenditure in note 10 to the financial statements.

We continued to respond to the changing 
environment around us so we can protect our 
ability to deliver the most impact for the people 
we are here to support.

Given our strong financial position and to support 
the additional investment and delivery of our 
ambitious strategy for people with cancer, we have 
started to grow our organisation again. Whilst 
this news is positive, we are still operating in an 
uncertain environment and must remain conscious 
of that.

We have a rigorous process in place to manage the 
size and structure of Macmillan. By understanding 
the capabilities and capacity needed to meet our 
strategic objectives, our leaders work with Finance 
and HR teams to identify new and additional roles 
across Macmillan.

Our plans must be sustainable, ensuring we make 
the best use of our time and money, as well as 
supporting our ambition to be more equitable, 
diverse and inclusive, and so all new roles are 
carefully considered.

Managing  
our costs
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As an organisation relying almost entirely on annual 
fundraised income, our policy is to hold adequate 
funds to enable us to react to any unexpected 
adverse impact on our finances. The trustees 
continued to endorse a liquidity policy in 2021, as 
Macmillan remains in a financially strong position 
and is therefore able to maximise support for those 
living with cancer. 

Under our liquidity policy, our target is to retain 
£100 million in investments and cash which are 
capable of being liquidated at relatively short 
notice. In addition, we will hold cash and other 
liquid funds to meet normal day-to-day cash 
flow requirements. As at 31 December 2021, our 
investments and cash totalled £157.5 million (2020: 
£141.4 million), £152.6 million of which is held in  
short-term funds and cash.

In 2022, we will review our liquidity, with a view 
to potentially reduce this target, whilst ensuring 
we maintain appropriate levels of easily accessible 
funds. We are confident in our plan to do our 
very best for people with cancer and want to 
continue our commitment to increase charitable 
expenditure. 

Liquidity

Our reported in-year operating result for 2021 is an 
operating deficit of £3.3 million before investment 
losses. After investment losses we ended the year 
with a deficit of £3.5 million. 

As at 31 December 2021, our general reserves 
totalled £54.7 million, an increase of £1.3 million 
from 2020. Designated funds totalled £3 million,  
a small decrease of £0.3 million from 2020. 
Restricted funds totalled £16.4 million, a decrease 
of £4.5 million from 2020. Total reserves stood at 
£74.1 million, compared to £77.6 million in 2020.  

As mentioned above, Macmillan operates a 
liquidity rather than a reserves policy, reflecting 
our operating model which sees the immediate 
recognition of multi-year grant commitments 
as per our accounting policy. It also means that 
by focusing on an appropriate level of liquidity, 
rather than a targeted level of reserves, we can 
increase our impact on the lives of people living 
with cancer. These grant commitments mean that 
our liabilities are particularly high, and if we were 
to exclude these long-term creditors (grants falling 
due after more than one year £82.9 million), our 
reserves level would increase from £74.1 million  
to £157 million.

Our year-end  
result and reserves
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Fixed asset investments
Our portfolio is being managed by Sarasin and 
Partners. At 31 December 2021, our long-term  
fund, which includes the value of some residual 
holdings with our previous investment managers, 
JP Morgan Private Bank, stood at £2.8 million in 
comparison to £3.3 million in 2020. Our short-term 
fund totalled £96.3 million, showing no movement 
compared to 2020. 

The performance of Sarasin and Partners is 
regularly monitored by the trustees against 
agreed benchmarks and trustees are satisfied 
with this performance. We continue to review our 
investment strategy with Sarasin and Partners on a 
regular basis. We do not directly invest in tobacco. 
We have made it clear to Sarasin and Partners 
that our funds must not be directly or indirectly 
invested in tobacco stocks.

In our financial statements, in addition to the above 
funds, our fixed asset investments also include 
legacy property of £0.6 million and a programme 
related investment of £1.4 million.

Current asset investments
Additionally, we hold funds to meet ongoing 
commitments. The trustees regularly monitor these 
funds to ensure the security of this money, as well 
as reviewing the performance of our investments. 
We increased the value held in our current 
investments from £28.3 million to £45.9 million 
during 2021 due to an increase in our cash balances 
following a return to pre-pandemic fundraising 
levels. The trustees are satisfied that these funds 
are prudently invested and will continue to monitor 
their status closely.

Pension schemes 
Our defined benefit pension scheme was closed to 
future accruals on 30 June 2010. We now operate a 
defined contribution stakeholder pension scheme 
for eligible employees.

The Financial Reporting Standard 102 (FRS102) 
valuation of our defined benefit pension scheme  
at 31 December 2021 showed a surplus of  
£10.6 million, a 24% increase from 2020. This 
surplus is not recorded in the financial statements, 
as the surplus in the Scheme is not fully 
recoverable by the Charity.

A formal triennial valuation was undertaken as at  
31 December 2019 and showed a surplus of  
£1 million. The trustees regularly review the 
pension scheme and are confident the scheme is 
well run and well-funded and there are no plans to 
change the current investment strategy.

Our investments
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Principal risks  
& uncertainties 
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We ask all our employees, in everything they do, 
to be aware of the risks and opportunities in what 
they are trying to achieve, to assess the potential 
seriousness and chance of them occurring and to 
manage them for the benefit of the people living 
with cancer that we support. 

We have a strong governance framework,  
ensuring risks are discussed, debated and 
agreed from an operational perspective to a 
strategic level. The Head of Risk, Governance 
and Compliance reports to the Chief Financial 
Officer, who is also Macmillan’s Senior Information 
Risk Officer and has an additional independent 
reporting line into the Treasurer, who is chair of  
the Finance & Audit Committee.

More formally, as part of our planning and 
review cycle, teams throughout the organisation 
(e.g. directorate teams, programme teams and 
operational risk managers) assess their risks each 
quarter to input into the Risk Leads Group as well 
as to agree these with their respective Executive 
Directors. Risks have been linked to Macmillan’s 
planning cycle to ensure we add more value to the 
process and content. As well as identifying things 
that could go wrong, we look for opportunities 
we might miss for further growth and a sustainable 
future, as missing these could also stop us 
improving the lives of people living with cancer. 
Risks are scored for the impact they would have 
and how likely they are to happen. Each risk has an 
identified owner. All corporate risks are assigned 
to the relevant sub-committee as agreed at our 
executive Performance & Risk Board and confirmed 
at the Finance & Audit Committee of the main 
Board of Trustees.  

How we manage 
risks at Macmillan

Risk planning 
and review

We define risk as anything that can adversely 
affect our ability to achieve our objectives for 
people living with cancer, sustain our operations, 
maintain our reputation or meet regulatory 
requirements. 

We see risk as being inherent in what we do and 
the decisions we make. We seek to understand 
the risks we face or create, and plan to operate 
within an acceptable level of risk-taking. 
However, we also know that we must innovate 
and take risks to reach and improve the lives of 
people living with cancer. Our approach to risk 
management follows the recommendations of 
the Charity Governance Code.
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All risks are scrutinised monthly at the Performance 
& Risk Board meetings to ensure all our Executive 
Directors, our CEO, Chief Operating Officer and 
Chief Financial Officer monitor all our corporate 
risks monthly as a group. We also conducted a 
Risk Horizon Scanning exercise with Executive 
Directors and their nominated Directors to map 
future existential risks for Macmillan. We continue 
to regularly engage with our all trustees, especially 
via the Finance & Audit Committee meetings to 
ensure we review and scrutinise every risk. Macmillan 
has always reviewed its risks and compliance metrics 
through regular meetings with risk leads from each 
directorate. This continued throughout the pandemic 
and, depending on the need, the frequency of these 
meetings increased. However, we are in a position 
now that risk leads only need to meet quarterly, and 
our Performance & Risk Board receives quarterly 
internal reports on compliance and risk metrics.

The corporate risk register is an organisation-wide 
summary of our risk profile and corresponding 
mitigating actions to help management validate 
our performance and sustainability and then 
present to the trustees for scrutiny and approval. 
Regular reviews of risk management plans inform 
our strategic planning, change management, 
operational decision making; they also feed into 
our assurance framework, including our annual 
Internal Audit Plan.

Our risk management process is supported by 
our governance structure. Our trustees and 
executive management recognise the importance 
of maintaining a strong system of internal controls, 
supported by these risk management activities 
and assurance mechanisms, including internal and 
external audit. Whilst our executive management 
team is responsible for the day-to-day operation 
of our risk processes, our trustees are responsible 
for ensuring there is an effective risk management 
process and an appropriate internal control 
environment. Executive management are informed 
by our directorate leadership teams, a Performance 
& Risk Board and the Risk Leads Group. They 
present updates to the Finance & Audit Committee 
which reviews the principal risks and provides 
oversight of the risk management process, so 
that the Treasurer can report annually on the 
effectiveness of the risk management process to 
our Board of Trustees.

Key to assessing our risks is establishing our risk 
appetite; the amount of risk we are prepared 
or able to accept in pursuit of our purpose. Risk 
appetites can be different for different situations, 
depending on the extent of benefit we are aiming 
for and the availability of effective controls. If 
we are faced with too much risk, the risk owner 
may need to take further mitigating actions to 
reduce the risk; if not enough risk is being taken 
to generate the expected benefit, then we may 
need to reduce some mitigating actions or look for 
ways to find more benefit. For instance, we may 
be willing to be more risk seeking in the pursuit 
of new initiatives but would be intolerant of any 
activities that could produce compliance issues.

For our principal risks, formal risk appetites are 
codified in our policies and procedures to provide 
direction and boundaries for consistent, risk 
aware decision-making for our risk owners. As 
the environment in which we operate changes, 
along with stakeholder expectations and our 
priorities, we may have to adapt our risk appetites. 
Ultimately, we recognise that we may not always 
be able to prevent individual incidents, but risk 
owners will still look to reduce the impact risks 
may have and the likelihood they may occur to an 
appropriate level.

Management 
review

Risk 
governance

Appropriate 
level of risk
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To help us analyse our risks, we identify and 
categorise our risks into three broad areas: 
strategic, operational and regulatory, and financial.

We have a clear and compelling programme of 
strategic initiatives designed to reach even more 
people living with cancer, improve standards 
of care and support and help people living 
with cancer live life as fully as they can. This is 
being rolled out pragmatically, informed by our 
understanding of what people living with cancer 
need and want, learning as we progress. However, 
there continues to be significant change and 
uncertainty in the external environment in which 
we operate: the ongoing impact and potential 
persistence of coronavirus; major changes to NHS 
and social care structures, major pressures on 
public spending, an uncertain economic outlook 
and a competitive charitable sector. We remain 
agile by monitoring and adjusting our focus as 
needed. Operationally, as we grow and change we 
are continuously looking for new and more efficient 
ways of delivering our services – such as listening 
to people living with cancer; improving the way 
we work with partner organisations, our volunteers 
and employees; and enhancing our technological 
support. This is against a background of continuing 
pressure on donors’ finances. Changes in 
regulation, particularly regarding data protection, 
require investment and changes to policies and 

procedures. Financially, we continue to review 
the level of liquidity we need to safely sustain our 
operations, so we can deploy as much as possible 
for our strategy and make more of a difference for 
people living with cancer. 

Throughout the year, we stay alert for changes, 
both externally and internally, and adjust to keep 
us on track to achieve our objectives, sustain our 
operations, maintain our reputation and meet 
regulatory requirements. 

Each risk category is described in more detail 
below along with our approach to managing them.

Strategic risk 
The world in which we operate is uncertain. We 
build processes and systems that help us stay on 
track of our short, medium and long-term goals 
so we can continue to be there for people with 
cancer.

Every year, we go through a rigorous strategic 
planning process that analyses the internal and 
external environment to highlight our areas of 
focus and potential risks. Through this we develop 
objectives, initiatives and plans for delivery. It is 
supported by a programme management function 
and a communication programme to inform 
employees, professionals and volunteers of our 

strategy and progress. We have an established 
annual planning and budget process into which 
we will feed any changes to the strategy, plans or 
budget resulting from the ongoing uncertainty.

We regularly monitor progress against our 
objectives through our Performance & Risk Board. 
Through this process, we can react quickly and 
adapt our approach to changing circumstances. 

We are guided by policies and processes to  
help us understand what ethical issues to consider 
when making decisions, such as where to invest 
charitable funds, what donations we can accept, 
or which partners, suppliers or individuals to work 
with.

We look to protect our future by maintaining a 
diverse mix of income streams; assessing the 
need for local and national improvement in cancer 
services, now and in the future; engaging with 
current partners to deliver services with us and 
developing new relationships; and constantly 
innovating to stay competitive and support people 
living with cancer.

Our risk profile 
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Operational and regulatory risk  

We hold ourselves to high standards to do our 
very best for those we work with and support.

We have policies, procedures and governance 
structures to monitor and mitigate operational risks 
and major incidents, including understanding our 
regulatory requirements.

We recruit and manage people, informed by  
clear role profiles and an operating model showing 
our current and future needs. Macmillan is working 
to remove unconscious bias from our recruitment 
and encourages applications from all candidates 
regardless of background. 

Specialist compliance training is delivered to 
employees in key areas to build their skills and ensure 
awareness of compliance requirements. A stocktake 
of all completed mandatory training is reviewed at 
an executive level in the Performance & Risk Board 
meetings, chaired by the Chief Operating Officer.

Our internal processes around information security, 
health and safety, safeguarding and counter-fraud 
have been benchmarked against recognised 
standards. We also ensure we understand the 
information governance behind our use and retention 
of data, and we act responsibly in line with the 
Information Commissioner’s Office best practice. 

Not everything goes as planned so we have 
contingency planning, incident management 
and crisis management arrangements in place.

Financial risk 

We are 98% funded by voluntary donations, 
including fundraising activities, so we regularly 
monitor the external environment as it could 
impact our income, investments and spend.

We monitor our financial performance, liquidity 
and solvency through a system of financial 
reporting that compares actual results against 
the phased annual budget and the latest quarterly 
forecast on a monthly basis. In addition, we 
prepare longer-term financial forecasts aligned 
to our strategic plans, incorporating scenarios, 
to confirm our longer-term solvency. 

Financial instrument borrowings are not used, and 
our investment and liquidity policies are set, with 
input from external advisers, to ensure we manage 
our risks and have adequate cash available to meet 
our ongoing liabilities.

In our investment activities, foreign exchange 
forward and options contracts are used to hedge 
exposure resulting from any risk of changes 
in foreign currency rates. All other assets and 
liabilities are held in sterling. 

Credit risk on amounts owed in respect of 
incoming resources is low. 

Investment policies, delegation of authorities, 
procurement and expenses policies are in place. 

We have defined accounting policies and financial 
controls for accurate and timely reporting.

Additional pervasive feedback  
and assurance controls.
We have complaints and grievance procedures 
and an anonymous whistleblowing hotline to 
enable appropriate reporting and consideration of 
internal and external stakeholders’ concerns, and 
individual comments on how we can improve. 

An annual internal audit programme tests the 
existence and effectiveness of key controls, 
supplemented by external reviews. 
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Looking forward 
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Wye Valley Mighty Hike.
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Right now, there are more than 3 million people 
living with cancer in the UK, and that number 
keeps growing. Despite that challenge, Macmillan 
will do whatever it takes to help everyone with 
cancer live life as fully as they can. We launched 
our ambitious new strategy in 2018. Since then, 
we’ve continued to evolve our plans, drawing on 
insight to respond to the changing environment 
and to be sure we can have the biggest impact for 
people living with cancer.

Our plan for 2022
Our plan for 2022 sets out how we will deliver 
our strategy this year. It details what we will do 
to achieve our objectives and is clear about what 
our priority deliverables are. To do this, we’ll rely 
on the dedication of thousands of colleagues, 
professionals, volunteers, partners and supporters. 
It’s up to all of us to do whatever it takes to help 
everyone with cancer live life as fully as they can. 
Let’s make it happen.

Our strategy and plan

Everyone with cancer will know that they can 
turn to Macmillan from the moment they are 
diagnosed, and how we can help them.

Everyone with cancer will have a conversation 
about all their needs and concerns, and get the 
support that’s right for them.

Everyone with cancer will have their vital needs 
met by high quality services.

We will inspire more people to give to Macmillan 
so we can continue to be there for people when 
they need us the most.

We will improve the key processes which support 
Macmillan to do its work as efficiently and 
effectively as possible.

We will reflect and represent the communities we 
serve in everything we do to support everyone 
living with cancer.

1

2

3

4

5

6

This is how 
we’ll do it 
together

With heart

With ambition

With strength
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•  Influence decision-makers and the healthcare 
system to give people with cancer care that  
is personal to them.

•  Work with partners to deliver healthcare that is 
personal to the individual by funding over 300 
new frontline posts to the areas in the UK that 
need them the most.

•  Equip people with cancer to personalise  
their experience when accessing support  
online and digitally.

•  Provide financial support to people with cancer 
through our services, by working in partnership 
with organisations and professionals, and by 
influencing decision-makers.

•  Help to deliver good end of life care by  
agreeing to six new partnerships.

•  Help people with cancer get the emotional  
and practical support they need.

•  Engage our customers so we can do  
more for people with cancer.

•  Recognise our value to generate new income 
from our commercial partnerships.

•  Inspire more people to give to Macmillan and 
raise £227 million in fundraised income so we  
can be there for people living with cancer for 
now and in the future.

•  Upskill our colleagues and improve our  
processes to help them do their jobs.

•  Update our systems and processes using data 
and insight to allow us to improve the experience 
of people with cancer.

•  Carefully manage our money in the most  
efficient and effective way.

•  Develop our leadership and culture to create 
a diverse and inclusive environment for all 
colleagues to thrive so that we are representative 
at all levels of the organisation and all our 
colleagues and volunteers feel they belong.

•  Improve our services and advocacy so that 
people with cancer from all backgrounds feel 
cancer services are accessible and inclusive.

•  Improve how we look and how we  
communicate so that our fundraising,  
marketing and innovation activities are 
representative and inclusive.

•  Reach 35% of people living with cancer at 
the point of diagnosis, through the Macmillan 
Support Line, cancer information pages on our 
website, our Information and Support Centres 
and Online Community.

•  Make it easier for people living with cancer to 
access our services by improving signposting, 
navigation and referral.

•  Develop and test new approaches to deliver 
local information support services.1

2

3

4

5

6
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Section 172 of the Companies Act 2006 requires 
the directors to act in the way they consider, in 
good faith, would be most likely to promote the 
success of the charity to achieve its charitable 
purposes. The Act states that, in doing so, the 
directors should have regard, amongst other 
matters, to:

•  The likely consequence of any decision in 
the long-term – Our strategic objectives 
(pages 9–69) were developed as part of a 
long term strategy to improve the lives of 
people living with cancer. We routinely review 
external developments and horizon scan for 
future trends, and ensure that our plans can 
be adapted as needed to meet changing 
circumstances. There has been an additional 
focus on this during the ongoing pandemic, 
to ensure that any short-term actions needed 
to deal with the impact of Covid-19 do not 
adversely affect our ability to deliver services for 
our beneficiaries in the longer term. 

•  The interests of the company’s employees 
– Our employees are vital to Macmillan and 
we regard ongoing, regular engagement with 
them as a top priority. We measure employee 
engagement through regular surveys and 
address any issues raised through these as 
quickly as possible. Feedback from Our Voice, 

our employee representative forum, is shared 
with our Executive Strategy team and the 
Trustees. We have employee networks to 
bring together and represent specific groups 
of employees, aimed at helping to establish 
a sense of community and support for these 
groups of people, as well as providing social 
and professional networks. During 2021, when 
most employees continued to work from home 
for much of the year, we continued to hold 
regular webinars to keep colleagues updated 
and maintain engagement. All employees 
have access to a Wellbeing Hub, and there are 
Wellbeing Ambassadors and Mental Health 
Champions throughout the charity to support 
colleagues. 

•  The need to foster the company’s business 
relationships with suppliers, customers and 
others – Our relationships with partners and 
suppliers are key to our effectiveness. Each will 
have an individual staff member as their contract 
manager, and we work with them closely to 
develop a mutually beneficial relationship. We 
encourage feedback from our customers so that 
we can learn from this to improve how we do 
things. Trustees receive regular reports on key 
supplier relationships and customer feedback. 
More information on pages 49–52.

•  The impact of the company’s operations 
on the community and the environment – 
We recognise our responsibility to care for 
the environment and aim to minimise our 
environmental impact in all our activities. 
Our Social & Environmental Impact Policy is 
monitored by a Compliance & Assurance Group 
and progress reports are regularly reviewed by 
our executive level Performance & Risk Board. 
More information on page 73.

•  The desirability of the company maintaining 
a reputation for high standards of business 
conduct – Our reputation and public trust in 
Macmillan is fundamental to our future success. 
We use our organisational values in our 
recruitment and training for both employees 
and volunteers to ensure that we maintain high 
standards, and these are used as a performance 
measure in our appraisal processes. Our 
procurement and ethical policies and 
procedures ensure that our values are also a key 
part of our selection of partners and suppliers. 

•  The need to act fairly as between members 
of the company – We aim to be a fully inclusive 
organisation which is relevant and accessible for 
anyone living with or affected by cancer. We will 
not unfairly discriminate against anyone.  
More information on page 51.

Setting ourselves up 
for success



We are committed to safeguarding the welfare 
of our employees, volunteers and everyone who 
receives our support. We believe children and 
adults have the right to protection from all types 
of harm or abuse. Our employees and volunteers 
have a duty to prevent abuse and report any 
safeguarding concerns.

Our safeguarding policy and training modules help 
our employees and volunteers to remove, reduce 
and manage safeguarding risks for everyone we 
support and work with. We also operate two 
safeguarding contact numbers, which offer real-
time advice and emotional support to anyone 
dealing with sensitive, challenging and difficult 
issues, 24 hours a day, seven days a week. 

We want to create a safe working environment for 
all our employees and volunteers and our continual 
aim is to reduce their risk of harm when working for 
us. Our health and safety procedures and training 
are designed to keep our premises and events 
safe for all. We provide support and training for 
people who regularly work or volunteer alone in 
the community, as well as access to a lone worker 
alarm with 24/7 emergency support. 

As well as offering emotional support and guidance  
through our Safeguarding team, we give all employees  
access to a 24/7/365 assistance programme and 
healthcare cover for additional support.

Safeguarding

We want our employees to be paid fairly and 
equally. Our gender pay report helps us to 
understand and monitor any difference in average 
earnings between female and male employees. In 
this most recent reporting year (5 April 2021), we 
have seen our mean gender pay gap increase from 
8.67% to 10.15%, which is disappointing.

2.11% 
increase 
Our median gender pay gap increased by 2.11% 
since 2020, which means a middle-ranking 
female earns £0.38 less and a middle-ranking 
male earns £0.04 more per hour. 

What’s caused this increase?
Several factors will have contributed to this increase. In  
particular, this increase is due to the difficult decision 
we had to make during the pandemic to reduce our 
headcount by more than 370 employees. However, 
we recognise that this does not justify the lack of 
progress we have made in closing our gender pay 
gap and there is more progress yet to be made.

Gender pay 

Definition:  
Our median gender pay gap is the difference  
in pay between the middle-ranking female  
and male employees. 

We are committed to growing the representation 
of disabled colleagues to ensure we are 
representative of all our communities by 2025. 
We strongly encourage people of different age 
groups, socio-economic and/or ethnically diverse 
backgrounds, religions, beliefs or no faith, and who 
identify as lesbian, gay, bisexual, transgender,  
non-binary people, veterans, parents, and 
individuals with disabilities to apply for roles at 
Macmillan. To support this, we have and regularly 
review policies, procedures and training to ensure 
we continue to evolve for all colleagues including 
our disabled colleagues.

Our recruitment processes are being reviewed 
to ensure we reduce and challenge personal 
bias wherever possible, and to ensure a fully 
accessible and inclusive process is in place for 
all candidates, both internal and external. This 
will include launching a partial anonymised 
recruitment process for all roles, introduction of 
recruitment adjustment guidance for disabled 
and neurodivergent candidates, diverse panels 
and a complete refresh of the training and 
support package for hiring managers. We have 
also invested in paid internships and are working 
with three charity providers to attract and place 
disabled and ethnically diverse candidates and/or 
individuals from less advantaged backgrounds.

Employment of 
disabled persons
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All our employees deserve a wage which meets 
their everyday needs. In 2017 we made it policy to 
pay at least the voluntary real living wage (£11.05 
per hour in London and £9.90 across the UK), rather 
than the statutory minimum wage (£8.36 for under 
23s) or national living wage (£8.91 for over 23s).* 

Fighting modern slavery
There is no modern slavery or human trafficking 
in our supply chains or in any part of our 
business. When we review our contracts, and 
develop new ones, we assess the possibility of 
modern slavery. In cases where we feel there is 
potential for slavery, we take actions to change 
our arrangements. We continue to monitor and 
improve how we manage contracts and share 
developments with our employees.

Living wage 
initiative 

In 2021, we:

•  Launched a Social and Environmental Impact 
policy to guide how we make decisions

•  Created dashboards to monitor our 
electricity and travel use

•  Joined the Fit for the Future  
sustainability network

Throughout 2021, we implemented several positive 
changes in a bid to address this. We anonymised and 
improved our recruitment practices, conducted  
in-depth pay reviews of our roles, and worked with 
our Working Families Employee Network to identify 
where we can better support colleagues with families. 

However, there is still more to do. While the 
disparity we have continues to be lower than the 
national average, this is not enough, and we are 
committed to removing this gap entirely.

How are we going to address this gap?
•  We will increase transparency about pay, 

including a review of our pay procedures and 
policies to ensure they are inclusive

•  We will continue to adapt how we recruit, 
develop, and support our employees, to ensure 
we are representative at all levels 

•  We have made changes to our reporting process 
so we can report and act on the findings quicker

You can read more in our Gender Pay Gap report 
about the steps we have taken, and continue to 
take, to address our gender pay gap at Macmillan.

We are committed to being an environmentally 
responsible charity and will seek to reduce the 
longer-term social and environmental impact of 
our operations. As a charity, we understand that 
we have a special duty to earn and maintain the 
trust of our supporters by ensuring that what we 
do maximises positive outcomes and minimises 
adverse impacts. Embracing our responsibilities 
for social and environmental impact in line with 
our values enables us to play our part and ensure 
we continue to support people living with cancer, 
sustainably, ethically and for the long term. But 
these decisions must also be financially viable to 
ensure we do not dilute our ability to support and 
care for people with cancer.

Caring for the 
environment

*Figures correct at the time of publication.

Read more 
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SECR  

Streamlined Energy and Carbon Reporting 
(SECR) is a set of regulations that require certain 
companies in the UK to disclose their energy and 
carbon emissions, including electricity, gas and 
transport. In line with the Companies (Directors’ 
Report) and Limited Liability Partnerships (Energy 
and Carbon Report) Regulations 2018, our energy 
use and greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions are  
set out below. The data relates to UK emissions  
for the 12-month period from 1 January 2021 to  
31 December 2021. 

Quantification and Reporting 
Methodology:  
The boundaries of this report are based on 
operational control. We report our emissions 
with reference to the latest Greenhouse Gas 
Protocol Corporate Accounting and Reporting 
Standard (GHG Protocol). In accordance with the 
2018 Regulations, the energy use and associated 
greenhouse gas emissions are for those within 
the UK only that come under the operational 
control boundary. The 2021 UK Government 
GHG Conversion Factors for Company Reporting 
published by the UK Department for Environment 
Food & Rural Affairs (DEFRA) are used to convert 
energy use in our operations to emissions of 
CO2e. Carbon emission factors for purchased 
electricity calculated according to the ‘location-

based grid average’ method. This reflects the 
average emission of the grid where the energy 
consumption occurs. We purchased 100% 
renewable energy for our office in Brighton and 
have included an additional figure calculated using 
market-based factors to account for this in our 
report above. 

For Shipley and Albert Embankment some utilities 
are included in the rent, so benchmarking based 
on floor area against industry benchmarks has 
been used to provide estimated consumption 
for gas at Albert Embankment and electricity at 
Shipley. Our approach to calculating electricity 
consumption at Shipley has been updated for 2021 
as landlord recharge data is not available at the 
time of reporting. For purposes of comparison we 
have recalculated the Shipley data for 2020 based 
on the same methodology. 

We closed 5 offices in 2020 (Edinburgh, Belfast, 
Millbank, Pencoed and York). These offices 
accounted for 53 tonnes of electricity emissions 
(tCO2e) and 48 tonnes of gas emissions (tCO2e) 
in 2020 and our 2021 emissions have reduced 
as a result of a smaller portfolio. We now utilise 
serviced offices in Belfast, Cardiff and Edinburgh 
for which consumption is included in this report. 
Emissions from these offices are based on the total 
number of days booked during the period and the 

floor area of the locations. We hope to improve 
the quantification of energy use and emissions in 
serviced offices with more accurate data on hours 
of occupancy and attendee numbers. All serviced 
offices are assumed to be serviced by electricity 
and gas. 

Data sources include billing, invoices, and internal 
systems. For transport data where actual usage 
data (e.g. litres) was unavailable, conversions were 
made using average fuel consumption factors 
for the vehicle type to estimate the associated 
emissions. For short-term hire car use only total 
spend was available, therefore, it was assumed all 
vehicles were diesel and conversions were made 
using the average fuel prices published by the  
UK Government. 

Intensity Ratio 
We have chosen to report our gross emissions 
against FTE staff and Income (£m) because 
these metrics are likely to align most closely to 
fluctuations in carbon emissions.

Energy Efficiency Action: 
Macmillan Cancer Support is committed to 
reducing the environmental impact of its 
operations. We have transitioned more employees 
to homeworking, reducing the energy use 
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associated with operating large offices. The 
introduction of Microsoft Teams has reduced the 
need for business travel and meeting room hire. 
Instead we began to utilise serviced offices in 
Belfast, Cardiff, and Edinburgh. 

In our last report we referenced the introduction  
of a pre-authorisation procedure for travel.  
Line managers now receive an alert when travel 
is booked by a report allowing them to raise any 
concerns around the sustainability of travel  
options considered. 

Challenge Events are focusing on sustainability 
across the programme in 2022. All running, hiking 
and cycling kit is sourced by the Merchandise 
Team ensuring sustainable materials are used 
and ethical supply chains are in place for all 
suppliers. The team has also moved away from 
sending physical fundraising packs to participants, 
replacing them with a postcard highlighting the 
wealth of fundraising and training support available 
on the website. Using results of a carbon impact 
assessment on a past Mighty Hike, the team is 
also working with its event delivery partner to 
review transportation, site power provision and 
menu choices for 40,000 participants, to minimise 
environmental impact.

Macmillan Cancer Support Energy Use and Associated Greenhouse Gas Emissions

January – December 2021 January – December 2020 
(updated)

Total Energy consumption 1,549,946 kWh 2,502,418 kWh

Emissions from combustion of gas  
(Scope 1) 132 tCO2e 179 tCO2e

Emissions from combustion of fuel for  
the purposes of transport (Scope 1) 26 tCO2e 136 tCO2e

Emissions from purchased electricity 
(Scope 2) 144 tCO2e 199* tCO2e

Emissions from serviced offices (Scope 3) 0.07 tCO2e NA

Emissions from business travel in rental 
cars or employee-owned vehicles where 
company is responsible for purchasing  
the fuel (Scope 3)

14 tCO2e 31 tCO2e

Total gross emissions 316 tCO2e 546 tCO2e

Emissions per FTE 0.21 tCO2e per FTE 0.31 tCO2e per FTE

Emissions per £m Income 1 tCO2e per £m Income 3 tCO2e per £m Income

Total Gross Scope 1, Scope 2 [market 
based] & Scope 3 emissions (tCO2e) 
[optional]

298 tCO2e 540 tCO2e

*Electricity data for Shipley recalculated in line with 2021 method. Please see narrative for detail. 
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Macmillan Cancer Support is a company limited by 
guarantee and a registered charity. Macmillan is 
governed by its Articles of Association, which sets 
out the Charity’s powers and authorities. 

The objects of the Charity included in the Articles 
of Association are: 

a)  to provide support, assistance and  
information directly or indirectly to people 
affected by cancer

b)  to further build cancer awareness, education 
and research

c)  to promote and influence effective care, 
involvement and support for people affected  
by cancer.

The Board of Trustees (Board) is ultimately 
responsible for the overall control and strategic 
direction of the Charity and for the protection of 
its assets. Day-to-day responsibility for running the 
Charity is delegated to the Chief Executive, Lynda 
Thomas, and the Executive Directors who comprise 
the Executive Strategy team (see page 81). 

The trustees are also directors under company 
law and are our company members. They are 
appointed by the Board for a term of three years 
and normally serve a maximum of three terms. 
The Board’s Nominations Committee reviews 
the structure, size, composition (including the 
skills, knowledge and experience) of the Board, 
considers succession planning, and makes 
recommendations on appointments to the Board. 
The trustees all give their time to Macmillan on a 
voluntary basis and receive no remuneration.  
Out-of-pocket expenses may be reimbursed. 

When recruiting new trustees, the Board aims to 
attract a diverse range of candidates who have 
the skills the Charity needs. It values the benefits 
of having members with different backgrounds, 
expertise and experience. All Board appointments 
are based on merit, in the context of ensuring that 
we have an appropriate balance of skills  
and experience. During 2021 we recruited two  
new trustees.

All new trustees undertake an induction 
programme, which includes meeting with the  
Chief Executive, Executive team members and 
other key staff, along with service visits. Inductions 
in 2020 and 2021 were carried out online because 
of the impact of coronavirus, but future inductions 
and visits will revert to in-person interactions as 
soon as possible. Additional and ongoing training 
is arranged as required for individual trustees or for 
the Board as a whole. 

The trustees who served during the year and up to 
the date of this report are seen opposite. 

Biographies of our trustees are available at 
macmillan.org.uk/about-us/who-we-are

During the year and up to the date of approval of 
the Trustees’ report, there was a qualifying third-
party indemnity in place for directors, as allowed 
by Section 234 of the Companies Act 2006.

Legal 
Structure 

Board of 
Trustees  
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The Board normally meets six times per year, 
including an annual strategy day which helps 
trustees and the Executive Strategy team to focus 
in more depth on the Charity’s long-term  
strategic direction. Due to the ongoing pandemic, 
the majority of trustee meetings in 2021 continued 
to be held by video conference, which worked 
very effectively. 

A framework of delegation is in place to set out 
matters delegated to committees of the Board 
or to the Executive or other staff. This is regularly 
reviewed and updated as necessary.  
Conflicts of interest are considered at each 
meeting and the Company Secretary maintains a 
register of conflicts.

How the Board 
works 

Professor Jean Abraham  
(appointed 16.06.21)

Dr Jag Ahluwalia  
(Chair of Charitable Expenditure Committee)

Iain Cornish  
(Treasurer and Chair of Finance & Audit 
Committee)

Professor Jane Cummings CBE  
(Chair of People Committee from 16.06.21)

Professor Timothy Eisen  
(to 16.06.21)

Rachel Higham 

Kate Howe  
(Chair of Fundraising Marketing & 
Communications Committee from 29.07.21)

Sue Langley OBE  
(Chair of Remuneration Committee 
to 16.06.21)

Feilim Mackle  
(Chair of Fundraising Marketing & 
Communications Committee to 29.07.21)

Mohammed Mehmet 

Richard Murley  
(Macmillan Chair and 
Chair of the Nominations Committee)

Dame Una O’Brien DCB  
(to 16.06.21)

Nick Owen CBE

Dame Helen Stokes-Lampard DCB  
(appointed 01.09.21)

Toby Strauss 

Mark Ware 

Macmillan Cancer Support Board of Trustees

Read more 
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The Board has delegated specific responsibilities 
to its committees, each of which has detailed 
terms of reference and reports to the Board. The 
remit of the committees is reviewed regularly to 
ensure they continue to work well. 

Finance & Audit Committee: Monitors the financial 
performance of the Charity, the performance 
of Macmillan’s investments and our investment 
strategies, financial reporting, planning and 
budgeting processes, compliance, corporate risk 
and our internal and external audit arrangements. 

Charitable Expenditure Committee: Reviews 
charitable expenditure and activities against 
strategic corporate priorities agreed by the Board.

Fundraising, Marketing & Communications 
Committee: Oversees the Charity’s fundraising, 
marketing and communications strategies and 
ensures that the Charity follows high standards of 
fundraising practice.

Nominations Committee: Considers the 
membership of the Board and recommends 
potential new trustees for election. This committee 
also keeps under review succession planning in 
respect of Honorary Officers and the Chief Executive, 
and oversees Board effectiveness reviews and 
action plans resulting from such reviews. 

People Committee (formerly Remuneration 
Committee): Determines and recommends to the 
Board the overall policy for the remuneration of the 
Charity’s employees, and provides an oversight on 
people issues and related policies. During 2021 the 
remit of this committee was reviewed. A change of 
name and increased number of meetings per year 
were agreed, to enable the committee to focus on 
a broad range of people issues for both employees 
and volunteers.

Number of meetings held in 2021
Board of Trustees 6

Charitable Expenditure Committee 5

Finance & Audit Committee 5

Fundraising, Marketing  
& Communications Committee 4

People Committee 2

The Nominations Committee did not meet in 2021.

Board Committees 
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Governance review

The Board regularly undertakes a review of its 
effectiveness to identify any improvements to the 
Board’s governance and ways of working or any 
training needs. The Board supports the principles 
of good governance set out in the Charity 
Governance Code and uses the Code to evaluate 
its effectiveness. The performance of individual 
trustees is assessed each year. 

An external governance review was commissioned 
by the Board in 2021. This was undertaken by 
Caroline Copeman and Christine Fogg of the 
Centre for Charity Effectiveness, Bayes Business 
School, and concluded in February 2022, when 
the findings were presented to the Board. The 
facilitators held interviews with all trustees, the 
Chief Executive, members of the Executive team, 
other senior staff and the Company Secretary, 
along with observing meetings. 

The review was based around the principles of 
the Charity Governance Code and good practice 
from a range of other organisations, and included 
an evaluation of the Board’s committees and their 
effectiveness. The facilitators also considered 
progress against the recommendations made in 
the last external review in 2018. 

The review found that Macmillan continued to 
have a strong Board, with trustees who work well 

together and with the Executive team. There is a 
good balance between the assurance role of the 
Board and offering insight and challenge, the value 
of which had been particularly demonstrated in the 
response to the pandemic. The virtual meetings 
necessitated by coronavirus had worked well for 
routine business, although it was recognised that 
deeper discussions about future strategic direction 
and the changing nature of cancer care would be 
helped by a return to face-to-face Board meetings 
in 2022. 

The governance framework, committee terms of 
reference, decision-making levels and governance 
principles and expectations were found to be 
clearly defined and understood. The role of the 
committees in focusing on detailed oversight and 
fiduciary responsibilities of their respective areas 
works well and frees up time at Board meetings 
to focus on strategy and overall performance, 
although there were recommendations to ensure 
good information flows between committees and 
the Board. 

Recommendations from the review included 
extending future horizon discussions to cover 
changes in charity governance and how the 
Board might need to respond and develop itself; 
involvement of trustees earlier in the strategy 

cycle to maximise their input and expertise; 
considering risk appetite in the post-pandemic 
era, in light of Macmillan’s ambition to reach more 
people living with cancer and new approaches to 
income generation; and occasional meetings of 
committee chairs to check alignment and ensure 
areas are not falling through any cracks. Following 
initial discussion by the Board, the Nominations 
Committee will draw up an action plan to take the 
recommendations forward. 
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Macmillan’s trustees, who sit on Macmillan’s Board 
and are also directors of Macmillan Cancer Support 
for the purposes of company law, are responsible 
for preparing the trustees’ annual report (including 
the Strategic Report) and the financial statements 
in accordance with applicable law and United 
Kingdom Accounting Standards (United Kingdom 
Generally Accepted Accounting Practice). 
Company law requires the trustees to prepare 
accounts for each financial year that give a true 
and fair view of the state of affairs of the Charitable 
Company and the Group, and of the incoming 
resources and application of resources, including 
the income and expenditure of the Charitable 
Group for that period. In preparing these financial 
statements the trustees are required to:

•  select suitable accounting policies and then 
apply them consistently

•  observe the methods and principles in 
the Statement of Recommended Practice: 
Accounting and Reporting by Charities (2019)

•  make judgements and estimates that are 
reasonable and prudent

•  state whether applicable UK Accounting Standards, 
comprising FRS 102, have been followed, subject 
to any material departures being disclosed and 
explained in the financial statements

•  prepare the financial statements on the going 
concern basis unless it is inappropriate to 
presume the Charitable Company will continue  
in business.

The trustees are responsible for keeping 
proper accounting records that can disclose 
with reasonable accuracy the financial position 
of the Charitable Company at any time and 
provide financial statements which comply 
with the Companies Act 2006, Charities and 
Trustee Investment (Scotland) Act 2005 and 
The Charities Accounts (Scotland) Regulations 
2006 (as amended). They are also responsible 
for safeguarding the assets of the Charitable 
Company and the Group, and taking reasonable 
steps for the prevention and detection of fraud 
and other irregularities. The trustees have overall 
responsibility for Macmillan’s internal controls, 
while the Finance & Audit Committee reviews 
internal risks and monitors how well the trustees 
manage these risks.

In so far as the trustees are aware:

•  there is no relevant audit information of which the 
Charitable Company’s auditors are unaware

•  the trustees have taken all the steps that they 
ought to have taken to make themselves aware 
of any relevant audit information and to establish 
that the auditors are aware of that information.

The trustees are responsible for the maintenance 
and integrity of the corporate and financial 
information included on the Charitable Company’s 
website. Legislation in the United Kingdom 
governing the preparation and dissemination of 
financial statements may differ from legislation in 
other jurisdictions. 

The trustees confirm that they have complied with 
their duty under the Charities Act 2011 to have due 
regard to the public benefit guidance published 
by the Charity Commission in determining the 
activities undertaken by the Charity. 

Macmillan has its registered office in London, as 
well as additional offices in Glasgow and Shipley.

Statement of responsibilities 
of the trustees
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Legal and administrative details
As at 31 December 2021

Status
The organisation is a charitable company limited 
by guarantee, incorporated on 30 June 1989 and 
registered as a charity in England and Wales on 
21 June 1989 and in Scotland on 1 October 2008. 
Within this document, the Company is variously 
referred to as Macmillan, Macmillan Cancer 
Support and the Charity.

Governing document
The organisation was established under a 
Memorandum of Association and is governed 
under its Articles of Association (last amended 25 
July 2019), which establish the objects and powers 
of the organisation.

Company number  2400969 
Charity number  261017 
Scottish charity number  SC039907

Registered office 
89 Albert Embankment, London SE1 7UQ

Patron
HRH The Prince of Wales

President

The Countess of Halifax

Deputy Presidents
Jamie Dundas 
Julia Palca

Chair
Richard Murley

Treasurer
Iain Cornish

Company Secretary
Elspeth Cox MVO

Chief Executive
Lynda Thomas CBE

Executive Strategy Team
Advocacy and Communications 
Steven McIntosh

Finance, Legal and Audit  
Steve Clayton

Fundraising, Marketing and Innovation 
Claire Rowney

People 
Kathy Taylor

Strategy and Performance /  
Cancer Support Operations 
Simon Phillips

Technology 
Roxanne Heaton

Bankers
Natwest 
250 Bishopsgate, London EC2M 4AA

Investment Managers
Sarasin & Partners LLP 
Juxon House, 100 St Paul’s Churchyard,  
London EC4M 8BU

Independent Auditors
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP 
1 Embankment Place, London WC2N 6RH

Macmillan Defined Benefit Pension 
Scheme Actuary
Declan Keohane 
First Actuarial LLP 
Network House, Basing View, Basingstoke, 
Hampshire RG21 4HG
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Macmillan Cancer Support has seven subsidiary 
companies:

•  Macmillan Cancer Support Trading Limited – 
which sells Christmas cards and other items, 
and carries out fundraising trading activities – 
continued to operate during 2021, and all of its 
profits were transferred to the Charity

•  Macmillan Cancer Information Lottery Limited, 
Macmillan Financial Grants Lottery Limited, 
Macmillan Healthcare Lottery Limited and 
Macmillan Influencing Cancer Care Lottery 
Limited – which all operate society lotteries – 
continued to operate during 2021. All of their 
profits were transferred to the Charity 

•  Macmillan Cancer Support Enterprises Limited 
– which was originally established to provide 
design and construction services to Macmillan 
Cancer Support – was dormant throughout 2021 

•  Cancer backup was dormant throughout 2021 

•  Note 7 to the financial statements summarises 
the results of the subsidiaries, which performed 
satisfactorily in 2021.

Related parties
Details of other related parties and connected 
organisations can be found in note 26 to the 
financial statements. 

Basis of preparation
The trustees’ report and the financial statements 
have been prepared in accordance with the 
Statement of Recommended Practice (SORP) 
‘Accounting and Reporting by Charities’ and 
Financial Reporting Standard 102. 

Independent Auditors
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP is the Group 
and Charity’s auditors. A resolution will be 
proposed by the charity’s members that 
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP is reappointed as 
auditors for the ensuing year. 

The trustees’ report, including the strategic report 
on pages 9 to 69, was approved by the board of 
trustees and authorised for issue on 28 June 2022. 

Richard Murley, Chair 

Further information 
Subsidiaries
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Runners taking part in our Run the Trail event.
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Opinion
In our opinion, Macmillan Cancer Support’s group financial 
statements and parent charitable company financial 
statements (“the financial statements”):

•  give a true and fair view of the state of the group’s and of 
the parent charitable company’s affairs as at 31 December 
2021 and of the group’s incoming resources and application 
of resources, including its income and expenditure, and cash 
flows, for the year then ended;

•  have been properly prepared in accordance with United 
Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice (United 
Kingdom Accounting Standards, comprising FRS 102 “The 
Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and 
Republic of Ireland”, and applicable law); and

•  have been prepared in accordance with the requirements 
of the Companies Act 2006, the Charities and Trustee 
Investment (Scotland) Act 2005 and regulations 6 and 8 
of The Charities Accounts (Scotland) Regulations 2006 (as 
amended).

We have audited the financial statements, included within 
the Annual Report and Accounts (the “Annual Report”), which 
comprise: the group and the parent charitable company 
balance sheets as at 31 December 2021; the consolidated 
statement of financial activities and the consolidated cash 
flow statement for the year then ended; and the notes to 
the financial statements, which include a description of the 
significant accounting policies.

Basis for opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with International 
Standards on Auditing (UK) (“ISAs (UK)”) and applicable law. 
Our responsibilities under ISAs (UK) are further described 
in the Auditors’ responsibilities for the audit of the financial 
statements section of our report. We believe that the audit 
evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to 
provide a basis for our opinion.

Independence 
We remained independent of the group and parent charitable 
company in accordance with the ethical requirements that 
are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in the UK, 
which includes the FRC’s Ethical Standard and we have fulfilled 

our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these 
requirements.

Conclusions relating to going concern
Based on the work we have performed, we have not identified 
any material uncertainties relating to events or conditions  
that, individually or collectively, may cast significant doubt 
on the group’s and parent charitable company’s ability to 
continue as a going concern for a period of at least twelve 
months from the date on which the financial statements are 
authorised for issue.

In auditing the financial statements, we have concluded that 
the trustees’ use of the going concern basis of accounting in 
the preparation of the financial statements is appropriate. 

However, because not all future events or conditions can be 
predicted, this conclusion is not a guarantee as to the group’s 
and parent charitable company’s ability to continue as a  
going concern.

Our responsibilities and the responsibilities of the trustees 
with respect to going concern are described in the relevant 
sections of this report.

Reporting on other information 
The other information comprises all of the information in the 
Annual Report other than the financial statements and our 
auditors’ report thereon. The trustees are responsible for the 
other information. Our opinion on the financial statements 
does not cover the other information and, accordingly, we do 
not express an audit opinion or, except to the extent otherwise 
explicitly stated in this report, any form of assurance thereon. 

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our 
responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing 
so, consider whether the other information is materially 
inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge 
obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially 
misstated. If we identify an apparent material inconsistency or 
material misstatement, we are required to perform procedures 
to conclude whether there is a material misstatement of the 
financial statements or a material misstatement of the other 
information. If, based on the work we have performed, we 
conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other 
information, we are required to report that fact. We have 
nothing to report based on these responsibilities.

With respect to the Strategic Report and Trustees’ Annual 
Report, we also considered whether the disclosures required 
by the UK Companies Act 2006 have been included.  

Based on our work undertaken in the course of the audit, the 
Companies Act 2006 and The Charities Accounts (Scotland) 
Regulations 2006 (as amended) require us also to report 
certain opinions and matters as described below.

Strategic Report and Trustees’ Annual Report
In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course 
of the audit the information given in the Annual Report, 
including the Strategic Report, for the financial year for which 
the financial statements are prepared is consistent with 
the financial statements; and the Strategic Report and the 
Trustees’ Annual Report have been prepared in accordance 
with applicable legal requirements.

In addition, in light of the knowledge and understanding of 
the group and parent charitable company and its environment 
obtained in the course of the audit, we are required to report if 
we have identified any material misstatements in the Strategic 
Report and the Trustees’ Annual Report. We have nothing to 
report in this respect.

Responsibilities for the financial statements and 
the audit
Responsibilities of the trustees for the financial statements
As explained more fully in the Statement of responsibilities of 
the trustees, the trustees are responsible for the preparation 
of the financial statements in accordance with the applicable 
framework and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair 
view. The trustees are also responsible for such internal control 
as they determine is necessary to enable the preparation of 
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, 
whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the trustees are 
responsible for assessing the group’s and parent charitable 
company’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing 
as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the 
going concern basis of accounting unless the trustees either 
intend to liquidate the group and parent charitable company or 
to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Independent auditors’ report to the members and trustees of Macmillan Cancer Support
Report on the audit of the financial statements
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Auditors’ responsibilities for the audit of the financial 
statements
We have been appointed as auditors under section 44(1) of 
the Charities and Trustee Investment (Scotland) Act 2005 and 
under the Companies Act 2006 and report in accordance 
with the Acts and relevant regulations made or having effect 
thereunder.

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about 
whether the financial statements as a whole are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to 
issue an auditors’ report that includes our opinion. Reasonable 
assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee 
that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs (UK) will 
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. 
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered 
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could 
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions 
of users taken on the basis of these financial statements. 

Irregularities, including fraud, are instances of non-compliance 
with laws and regulations. We design procedures in line 
with our responsibilities, outlined above, to detect material 
misstatements in respect of irregularities, including fraud. 
The extent to which our procedures are capable of detecting 
irregularities, including fraud, is detailed below.

Based on our understanding of the group and parent 
charitable company/industry, we identified that the principal 
risks of non-compliance with laws and regulations related to 
the Charities Act 2011, and we considered the extent to which 
non-compliance might have a material effect on the financial 
statements. We also considered those laws and regulations 
that have a direct impact on the financial statements such as 
the Companies Act 2006, the Charities and Trustee Investment 
(Scotland) Act 2005 and regulations 6 and 8 of The Charities 
Accounts (Scotland) Regulations 2006 (as amended). We 
evaluated management’s incentives and opportunities for 
fraudulent manipulation of the financial statements (including the 
risk of override of controls), and determined that the principal 
risks were related to the posting of inappropriate journal 
entries and the manipulation of key accounting judgements 
and estimates. Audit procedures performed included:

•  enquiry of management and the Board of Trustees,  
including consideration of known or suspected instances of 
non-compliance with laws and regulations, and fraud;

•  reading minutes of meetings of the Board of Trustees and 
Board subcommittees, including the Finance and Audit 
Committee;

•  reviewing the terms and conditions of significant contracts;

•  reviewing correspondence with regulators including the 
Charity Commission for England and Wales and the Office of 
the Scottish Charity Regulator;

•  understanding and evaluating the group’s control 
environment;

•  identifying and testing journal entries, including journal 
entries posted with unusual account combinations to income 
or expenditure accounts;

•  testing the recognition of grant expenditure against the 
terms of the grant awards;

•  assessing the reasonableness of key accounting judgements 
and estimates including accrued legacy income; and

•  assessing financial statement disclosures, and testing to 
supporting documentation, for compliance with applicable 
laws and regulations.

There are inherent limitations in the audit procedures 
described above. We are less likely to become aware of 
instances of non-compliance with laws and regulations that 
are not closely related to events and transactions reflected 
in the financial statements. Also, the risk of not detecting a 
material misstatement due to fraud is higher than the risk of 
not detecting one resulting from error, as fraud may involve 
deliberate concealment by, for example, forgery or intentional 
misrepresentations, or through collusion.

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the 
financial statements is located on the FRC’s website at: www.
frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This description forms part 
of our auditors’ report.

Use of this report
This report, including the opinions, has been prepared for and 
only for the charitable company’s members and trustees as a 
body in accordance with section 44(1)(c) of the Charities and 
Trustee Investment (Scotland) Act 2005 and the Companies 
Act 2006 and regulations made under those Acts (regulation 
10 of The Charities Accounts (Scotland) Regulations 2006 (as 
amended) and Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the Companies Act 2006) 
and for no other purpose. We do not, in giving these opinions, 
accept or assume responsibility for any other purpose or to 
any other person to whom this report is shown or into whose 
hands it may come save where expressly agreed by our prior 
consent in writing.

Other required reporting
Matters on which we are  
required to report by exception
Under the Companies Act 2006 and The Charities Accounts 
(Scotland) Regulations 2006 (as amended) we are required to 
report to you if, in our opinion:

•  we have not obtained all the information and explanations we 
require for our audit; or

•  adequate and proper accounting records have not been kept 
by the parent charitable company or returns adequate for  
our audit have not been received from branches not visited 
by us; or

•  certain disclosures of trustees’ remuneration specified by law 
are not made; or

•  the parent charitable company financial statements are not in 
agreement with the accounting records and returns.

We have no exceptions to report arising from this responsibility.

 
 

Philip Stokes (Senior Statutory Auditor) 
for and on behalf of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP 

Chartered Accountants and Statutory Auditors 
London

04 July 2022
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Consolidated statement of financial activities
(including an income and expenditure account)
For the year ended 31 December 2021 

2021 2020
Unrestricted Restricted Total Unrestricted Restricted Total

Note £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000
Income
Legacies, donations and grants:
    Legacy income 2 85,727 4,678 90,405 66,549 5,267 71,816
    Donation income 3 106,703 12,877 119,580 87,549 9,648 97,197
    Grant income 4 259 2,453 2,712 5,149 2,937 8,086
Total legacies, donations and grants 192,689 20,008 212,697 159,247 17,852 177,099
    Income from trading activities 5 17,019 531 17,550 16,370 81 16,451
Total income before investment income 209,708 20,539 230,247 175,617 17,933 193,550
    Investment income 6 460 - 460 1,339 - 1,339
Total income 210,168 20,539 230,707 176,956 17,933 194,889

Expenditure
    Expenditure on raising income 9 62,426 55 62,481 58,173 299 58,472
    Expenditure on charitable activities 10 146,597 24,977 171,574 70,933 18,398 89,331
Total expenditure 209,023 25,032 234,055 129,106 18,697 147,803

Net (expenditure) / income before (loss) on investments 1,145 (4,493) (3,348) 47,850 (764) 47,086
Net (loss) on fixed and current asset investments (142) - (142) (5,721) - (5,721)
Net (expenditure) / income 1,003 (4,493) (3,490) 42,129 (764) 41,365
Transfers between funds 25 - - - - - -
Net movement in funds 1,003 (4,493) (3,490) 42,129 (764) 41,365

Reconciliation of funds
Total funds brought forward 56,679 20,929 77,608 14,550 21,693 36,243
Total funds carried forward 25 57,682 16,436 74,118 56,679 20,929 77,608

No corporation tax was payable by the Group or Charity for the year ended 31 December 2021 (2020: £nil).

All of the above results are derived from continuing activities. There were no other recognised gains or losses other than those stated above. Movements in funds 
are disclosed in note 25 to the financial statements. The notes on pages 89–111 form part of these financial statements. 
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The net expenditure for the year of the parent Charity was 
£3,490,000 (2020: £41,365,000 net income).

The financial statements, including the notes on pages 91–113, 
were approved by the Board of Trustees and authorised for 
issue on 28 June 2022, and signed on its behalf by:

 
Richard Murley – Chair                    Iain Cornish – Treasurer

Balance sheets  Company Number 2400969
As at 31 December 2021

Group Group Charity Charity
2021 2020 2021 2020

Note £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000
Fixed assets
    Tangible assets 13 7,148 7,633 7,148 7,633
    Investments 14 101,126 101,695 101,126 101,695
Total fixed assets 108,274 109,328 108,274 109,328

Current assets
    Investments 15 45,905 28,355 45,905 28,355
    Cash at bank and in hand 16 10,423 11,384 4,597 5,360
    Stocks and property awaiting sale 18 370 311 - 28
    Debtors 19 78,629 66,974 83,030 70,935
Total current assets 135,327 107,024 133,532 104,678

Liabilities
Creditors: amounts falling due within one year
    Grants committed not yet paid 20 (69,009) (54,710) (69,009) (54,710)
    Other creditors and deferred income 21 (16,413) (14,576) (14,618) (12,230)

Net current assets 49,905 37,738 49,905 37,738

Total assets less current liabilities 158,179 147,066 158,179 147,066

Creditors: amounts falling due after more than one year
Grants committed not yet paid 20 (82,856) (68,733) (82,856) (68,733)
Provisions for liabilities 23 (1,205) (725) (1,205) (725)
Net assets 24 74,118 77,608 74,118 77,608

The funds of the charity
Restricted income funds 16,436 20,929 16,436 20,929
Unrestricted funds:
    Investment revaluation reserve (3,193) (3,187) (3,193) (3,187)
    Other general funds 57,892 56,562 57,892 56,562
Total general funds 54,699 53,375 54,699 53,375
    Designated funds 2,983 3,304 2,983 3,304
Total unrestricted funds 57,682 56,679 57,682 56,679
Total funds of the charity 25 74,118 77,608 74,118 77,608
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Consolidated cash flow statement
For the year ended 31 December 2021 

2021 2020
Note(s) £’000 £’000

Net (expenditure) / income for the year 
(as per the statement of financial activities) (3,490) 41,365

Adjustments to exclude non-cash items and investment income
     Depreciation 13 485 510
     Increase/(decrease) in grant commitments, other creditors and deferred income 20,21 30,259 (80,193)
     Increase/(decrease) in provisions 23 480 (9)
     (Increase)/decrease in stocks and property awaiting sale 18 (59) 847
     Increase in debtors 19 (11,655) (416)
     Losses on fixed and current asset investments 142 5,721
     Investment income 6 (460) (1,339)
     Shares and investments acquired via legacies and gifts 14 - -
     Current asset gifted properties acquired via legacies and gifts (1,035) -
     Loss on programme related investment 14 464 279
Net cash generated from / (used in) operating activities 15,131 (33,235)

Cash flows from investing activities
     Investment income 6 460 1,339
     Purchase of tangible assets 13 - (464)
     Payments to acquire fixed asset investments 14 (486) (995)
     Proceeds from sales of fixed asset investments 14 - -
     Proceeds from sales of current asset gifted properties 1,035 554
     Payments into current asset investments (88,200) (88,618)
     Withdrawals from current asset investments 70,650 99,600
     Transfer to cash and cash equivalents 14 449 26,639
     Transfer to stocks and property awaiting sale 14 - -
Net cash (used in) / generated from investing activities (16,092) 38,055

Change in cash and cash equivalents in the year (961) 4,820
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 11,384 6,564
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 16 10,423 11,384

Reconciliation of net cash

  At start of year Cash flows At year end

 Cash  11,384  (961)  10,423
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1. Accounting policies
Basis of preparation
The financial statements are prepared under the historical 
cost convention, modified to include the revaluation of 
investments to fair value, and in accordance with applicable 
accounting standards in the United Kingdom, the Statement of 
Recommended Practice (SORP) ‘Accounting and Reporting by 
Charities’ and Financial Reporting Standard (FRS) 102, together 
with the reporting requirements of the Companies Act 2006, 
the Charities Act 2011, the Charities and Trustee Investment 
(Scotland) Act 2005 and the Charities Accounts (Scotland) 
Regulations 2006. 

These financial statements consolidate the results of the 
Charitable Company and its wholly owned subsidiary 
companies: Macmillan Cancer Support Trading Limited, 
Macmillan Healthcare Lottery Limited, Macmillan Financial 
Grants Lottery Limited, Macmillan Cancer Information Lottery 
Limited and Macmillan Influencing Cancer Care Lottery 
Limited on a line-by-line basis. Uniform accounting policies 
are adopted across the Group and inter company transactions 
are eliminated on consolidation. Cancerbackup and Macmillan 
Cancer Support Enterprises were dormant in 2020 and 2021, 
and have both been excluded from the consolidated financial 
statements on the basis of materiality. The Charity also has 
an investment in an associate which is a programme related 
investment and is accounted for under the equity method in 
the consolidated financial statements, see note 14. A separate 
Statement of Financial Activities for the Charity itself is not 
presented as allowed by Section 408 of the Companies Act 
2006 and paragraph 5.1 of the SORP 2015. The income of the 
parent Charity was £225,330,000 (2020: £189,917,000) and the 
expenditure was £228,678,000 (2020: £142,831,000). The net 
expenditure of the Charity after recognised losses of £142,000 
(2020: £5,721,000 losses) was £3,490,000 (2020: £41,365,000). 
The Charity has taken advantage of the exemption from 
preparing a Cash Flow Statement under FRS 102 Section 1.12(b). 
The cash flows of the Charity are included in the Consolidated 
cash flow statement.

The accounting policies have been consistently applied across 
the Group from year to year in accordance with FRS 102.

Critical accounting estimates
In the preparation of the financial statements, accounting 
estimates are made. The most significant areas of estimation 
that affect items in the financial statements are to do with 
estimating the accrued legacy income for the year and the 
discount applied to grant commitments not yet paid falling 
due after more than one year to adjust the valuation to its 
present value. 

The Bank of England base rate is used when calculating the 
discount applied to grant commitments not yet paid falling 
due after more than one year.

In calculating the value of a legacy estate, we apply an 
estimated deduction for costs incurred in administering the 
legacy of 8%. This is based on the average costs that have 
been incurred over a three-year period. 

See note 1, ‘Legacy income’ and notes 2 and 19 for more 
information on the accrued legacy income. See note 1, ‘Grant 
commitments’ and notes 17 and 20 for more information on 
grant commitments. 

Critical accounting judgements
In the preparation of the financial statements, accounting 
judgements are also made. The most significant area of 
judgement that affects items in the financial statement relates 
to the defined benefit pensions surplus. 

As per FRS 102, Macmillan can only recognise a surplus on its 
defined benefit pension scheme if there is a right to a refund. 
Such a refund would only occur on wind up of the scheme as 
there are no other provisions for a refund in the consolidated 
scheme rules. Macmillan believe that they do not have 
sufficient control over the surplus to be able to recognise the 
asset as they cannot be certain of the surplus figure continuing 
to be so in the future and the balance may not continually be 
recoverable. Macmillan have therefore exercised judgement 
in not recognising this asset on the consolidated balance 
sheet. If we were to recognise this, it would result in an asset 
of £10,635,000. See note 1, ‘Pensions’ and note 29 for more 
information on the defined benefit pension scheme.

Other accounting judgements
In the preparation of the financial statements, other accounting 
judgements are made, which are not considered critical. 

One of the areas that affects items in the financial statements 
relates to donated goods and services. No amount is 
included for items where Macmillan would not have paid for 
the donated good or service under ordinary circumstances. 
Further detail on donated goods and services can be found in 
note 1 ‘Donation income’.

Going concern
In determining the appropriate basis of preparation of the 
financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2021, 
the Trustees are required to consider whether Macmillan 
Cancer Support can continue in operational existence for the 
foreseeable future. 

As at 31 December 2021 Macmillan had cash and investment 
balances of over £157 million as outlined in the liquidity and 
reserves sections of the annual report, well above the target 
minimum liquidity of £100 million that the Trustees have set in 
order to remain in a financially strong position and be able to 
maximise support for those living with cancer.

The Trustees, after reviewing Macmillan’s budgets, business 
plans, cash flow forecasts and investment and cash reserves, 
consider that the Group and Charity have sufficient resources 
and liquidity available at the date of approval of this report and 
for a period of at least 12 months. Accordingly, the Trustees 
are satisfied that it is appropriate to adopt the going concern 
basis in preparing the Annual Report and Accounts.

Taxation
As a registered charity, the Charity benefits from rates relief 
and is exempt from corporation tax on its charitable activities 
but not from VAT. Irrecoverable VAT is included in the cost of 
those items to which it relates. The subsidiary undertakings do 
not generally pay direct tax because their policy is to Gift Aid 
their taxable profits to the Charity.

Legacy income
Pecuniary legacies are recognised as receivable once 
probate has been granted and notification has been received. 
Residuary legacies are recognised as receivable once probate 
has been granted, notification has been received and where 
they can be valued. Residuary legacies with a life interest are 
only valued where legal title has passed to the Charity.

Notes to the financial statements
For the year ended 31 December 2021 
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1. Accounting policies (continued)
Donation income 
General donations, donations from fundraising events, 
corporate and philanthropy income and direct marketing 
income are recognised in full in the Statement of Financial 
Activities when entitled, receipt is probable and when the 
amount can be quantified with reasonable accuracy. Income 
received in advance is deferred where appropriate. Donation 
income from local fundraising committees is included when 
received and notified by the committee. Gift Aid receivable 
is included when claimable. Donated goods and services are 
valued and included as income and expenditure, at the price 
estimated by the donor that Macmillan would pay in the open 
market for an equivalent good or service. Donated goods 
for resale are recognised when they are sold. A valuation of 
volunteer time given to the Charity is not included in these 
financial statements.

Grant income
Grant income is credited to the Statement of Financial 
Activities when received or receivable whichever is earlier, 
unless the grant relates to a specific future period, in which 
case it is deferred. Included within grant income is income 
received as part of the Coronavirus Job Retention Scheme 
(CJRS), which has been accounted for as a government grant 
under the performance model. CJRS grants are receivable in 
respect of qualifying employees and are recognised when 
salary payments have been made to the qualifying employees. 
As the CJRS is designed to compensate for staff costs, the 
amounts received are recognised over the same period as the 
costs to which they relate. CJRS grants are not received with 
restriction as to the charitable purposes for which they  
can be spent.

Income from trading activities
Income from trading activities is credited to the Statement 
of Financial Activities when received or receivable whichever 
is earlier, unless it relates to a specific future period, in which 
case it is deferred. Income received in respect of raffles 
and lotteries is recognised when the draw is made. Income 
received in advance for future raffle and lottery draws is 
deferred until the draw takes place. Trading income from local 
fundraising committees is included when received and notified 
by the committee.

Expenditure
Expenditure is recognised on an accruals basis in the period 
in which it is incurred. Expenditure on raising income includes 
the costs incurred in raising legacy income, donation income, 
grant income and income from trading activities, including 

apportioned support costs. Expenditure on charitable 
activities comprises the costs incurred on charitable activities 
including apportioned support costs.

Allocation of expenditure
Expenditure is allocated to the particular activity to which the 
cost relates. Where expenditure contributes to more than one 
area of activity, the costs are allocated to each of the activities 
based on estimated staff numbers on a FTE basis.

Governance costs
Governance costs are the costs associated with constitutional 
and statutory requirements and with the strategic 
management of the Charity’s activities.

Redundancy and termination payments 
Redundancy and termination payments are recognised when 
there is a demonstrable commitment on an individual or group 
basis that cannot be realistically withdrawn. 

Tangible and intangible assets
Tangible assets are stated at cost, net of cumulative 
depreciation and provision for impairment. Depreciation is 
charged in equal instalments over the life of each tangible 
asset at the following rates:

 Furniture and equipment 20%

 Computer equipment 33.33%

 Motor vehicles 20%

  Leasehold property and  Over the life 
leasehold property  of the lease 
improvements 

Items of equipment, motor vehicles, and property are 
capitalised where the purchase price exceeds £10,000. 
Leasehold improvements are capitalised where the cost 
exceeds £250,000. Depreciation costs are allocated to 
activities on the basis of the use of the related assets in  
those activities.

An annual impairment review is undertaken and adjustments 
are made where the adjustment is material.

Assets under construction are not depreciated and comprise 
expenditure on the purchase, creation or enhancement of 
tangible assets not brought into use at the Balance Sheet 
date. Transfers are made from assets under construction to the 
relevant category of tangible asset when the asset is brought 
into use. 

Intangible fixed assets are capitalised at cost. The Group 
capitalises items costing more than £250,000 that meet 
the criteria for capitalisation as per FRS 102. Amortisation is 
charged to write off the cost of intangible assets on a straight-
line basis over 3 years.

Investments
Listed investments are included on the Balance Sheet at fair 
value which is their closing bid price on the current or previous 
trading day.

Unlisted investments are included on the Balance Sheet at 
their fair value. For unlisted funds this is based on the Charity’s 
share of the net asset value of the investments using the latest 
available performance data. Investments in subsidiaries are 
recorded at cost in the Charity’s Balance Sheet. 

Realised gains and losses on disposals in the year and 
unrealised gains and losses on investments at the Balance 
Sheet date are included in the Statement of Financial Activities 
for the relevant underlying funds. All investment income is 
treated as unrestricted. 

Investment properties include properties that arise from 
legacies or lifetime gifts from donors where legal title has 
passed to the Charity. Investment properties are included 
on the Balance Sheet at fair value. Investment property land 
is valued by an independent valuer who holds a relevant 
professional qualification and has relevant experience of both 
the class and location of the asset. Investment properties that 
relate to properties with a life interest where legal title has 
passed to the Charity are valued by management based on the 
current market value of similar properties less an adjustment to 
reflect the life interest. Properties with a life interest cannot be 
sold until the life interest held by a third party has ended. 

Current asset investments have a maturity date or expected 
disposal date of less than one year and are not held for long-
term investment purposes.

Programme related social investments 
Programme related social investments are investments made in 
order to directly further the charitable purposes of the Charity. 
Any financial return obtained is not the primary reason for 
making the investment. Programme related social investments 
are held at cost adjusted for impairment losses. Impairments 
in the value of programme related investments are charged 
to charitable expenditure. Gains in the value of programme 
related investments are credited to investment income. 

Where the Charity has a significant interest in a programme 
related investment, it will be treated as either a joint venture 
or an associate, dependent on the level of control exerted by 
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the Charity. Joint ventures and associates are included at cost, 
subsequently adjusted for the Charity’s share in the associate’s 
net assets under the equity method in the consolidated 
financial statements. The annual movement in the value 
of programme related investments is shown as a separate 
category in the investments note.

Cash at bank and in hand
Cash at bank and in hand includes deposits with banks and 
funds that are readily convertible into cash at, or close to, their 
carrying values, but not held for investment purposes. 

Macmillan also have cash balances that are held by local 
fundraising committees. For those committees which hold 
restricted cash balances and have an agreement in place with 
Macmillan, the committees are responsible for how these 
funds are spent.

Financial instruments
The Charity has applied the provisions of FRS 102, Section 
11, ‘Basic Financial Instruments’ and Section 12, ‘Other 
Financial Instruments Issues’. Financial assets and liabilities 
are recognised when the Charity becomes a party to the 
contractual provisions of the instrument. The Charity initially 
recognises a financial asset or a financial liability at transaction 
price, for debtors and other creditors this is the settlement 
amount. Grant commitments over one year are discounted to 
reflect present value.

Stocks
Goods purchased for resale are valued at the lower of cost and 
net realisable value. 

Property awaiting sale
Gifted properties awaiting sale are valued at their fair value, 
which is their expected sale price, less costs of sale. Properties 
awaiting sale are valued by an independent valuer who holds a 
relevant professional qualification and has relevant experience 
of both the class and location of the asset. 

Debtors and creditors
Trade debtors and other debtors are recognised at their 
transaction price less any allowance for doubtful debts. 
Liabilities are recognised when, as a result of past events, 
there is a probable future outflow of resources and the amount 
can be estimated reliably. Trade creditors and other creditors 
are included at their nominal value.

Grant commitments
Grants are generally made to organisations to meet 
employment and development costs of Macmillan post 
holders and related service developments, to assess and 
meet patient needs. This covers costs associated with 
health, financial, information and emotional and practical 
support developments, including buildings. The full value 
of the charitable grant is recognised in the year in which 
the commitment is made and shown as a long or short-
term creditor as appropriate. The discount applied to grant 
commitments not yet paid falling due after more than one year 
to adjust the valuation to its present value is the current base 
rate. Commitments are recognised on the date the Charity 
formally notifies the recipient of the award. 

Macmillan grants are grants to individuals which are made to 
cover a wide range of practical needs and are recognised in 
the year in which they are paid.

Releases of grant commitments
There are occasions when it becomes necessary to withdraw 
and redeploy a grant which has been approved in a prior year. 
Where redeployment occurs the intention of the original grant 
is observed where possible. If it cannot be spent in the current 
year, the funds revert to the original unrestricted or restricted 
reserve.

Provisions
Provisions are recognised when the Charity has a present 
legal or constructive obligation as a result of a past event, it is 
probable that an outflow of resources will be required to settle 
the obligation and the amount can be reliably estimated.

Leases
The Charity enters into operating leases as detailed in note 27. 
Expenditure on operating leases is charged in the Statement of 
Financial Activities as incurred. 

Fund accounting
Restricted, designated and general funds are separately 
disclosed, as set out in note 25. The different funds held are 
defined as follows:

 Restricted funds  These are subject to specific 
restrictions imposed by the donor or by 
the nature of the appeal.

 Designated funds  These are set aside at the discretion 
of the trustees for specific purposes. 
They would otherwise form part of the 
general funds. 

 General funds   These are available to spend at the 
discretion of the trustees in furtherance 
of the charitable objectives of the 
Charity.

Any transfers between funds and any allocations to and from 
designated funds are approved by trustees.

Pensions
During the year the Charity operated a defined benefit pension 
scheme for employees. The scheme closed to new members 
on 30 April 2005, and to the accrual of future benefits, with no 
further member contributions required, on 30 June 2010. The 
scheme is accounted for in accordance with FRS 102.

Following the closure of the scheme during 2010, the 
resultant scheme surplus is not recognised on the Charity’s 
Balance Sheet. Any future scheme deficit would be shown 
on the Charity’s Balance Sheet. The amounts charged in the 
Statement of Financial Activities for defined contribution 
pension schemes represent the contributions payable in the 
period.

The assets of the scheme are held separately from those of the 
Charity in an independently administered fund. The Charity 
also contributes to a separate stakeholder pension scheme 
provided by Legal & General. Contributions to the Charity’s 
stakeholder pension scheme are charged to the Statement of 
Financial Activities in the year in which they become payable.

Macmillan contributed to a further defined benefit pension 
scheme, the National Health Service Pension Scheme which is 
unfunded. It is not possible for Macmillan to identify its share 
of the liabilities for the scheme and therefore contributions are 
recognised in the Statement of Financial Activities in the year 
in which they become payable.
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2. Legacy income   2021 2020 
Unrestricted Restricted Total Total

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000
Legacy income 85,727 4,678 90,405 71,816

3. Donation income   2021 2020 
Unrestricted Restricted Total Total

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000
Local fundraising committees 567 1,594 2,161 2,190
Fundraising events 48,784 2,446 51,230 30,333
Corporate income 10,426 6,207 16,633 13,908
Philanthropy 3,808 2,022 5,830 5,355
General donations 12,779 599 13,378 11,392
Direct marketing 29,577 9 29,586 31,556
Donated services and facilities 762 - 762 2,463

106,703 12,877 119,580 97,197

Donated services and facilities comprises contributions totalling £312,000 (2020: £1,867,000) to our fuel management programme, 
£68,000 (2020: £68,000) of advertising space, £367,000 (2020: £465,000) in respect of professional advice including training, £nil (2020: 
£48,000) for PPE provided for Macmillan nurses and £15,000 (2020: £15,000) for a software licence. The Charity also benefits from the 
services of unpaid volunteers.

4. Grant income   2021 2020 
Unrestricted Restricted Total Total

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000
Scottish Government – Improving Cancer Journey Programme - 2,138 2,138 2,613
Sussex Cancer Fund – Macmillan Horizon Centre – Brighton - 55 55 53
Coronavirus Job Retention Scheme 254 - 254 5,149
NHS North Cumbria CCG - 130 130 135
Department for Health (Northern Ireland) - 110 110 -
Norfolk & Waveney STP – Telephone Buddy Service - 20 20 -
Dorset CCG 5 - 5 -
Coronavirus Community Support Fund - - - 90
Energy Savings Trust - - - 46

259 2,453 2,712 8,086
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5. Income from trading activities     
2021 2020

Unrestricted Restricted Total Total
£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Lottery and raffle 13,909 - 13,909 13,998
Local fundraising committees sales 109 307 416 114
Fundraising events 199 224 423 57
Corporate and other trading income 2,802 - 2,802 2,282

17,019 531 17,550 16,451

6. Investment income   2021 2020 
Unrestricted Unrestricted

£’000 £’000
Income from fixed asset investments 441 1,247
Income from cash and current asset investments 19 92

460 1,339

7. Subsidiary undertakings

As at 31 December 2021, the Charity had seven wholly owned subsidiaries which are incorporated in the UK. The registered address 
for all the subsidiary undertakings is 89 Albert Embankment, London, SE1 7UQ. All of their taxable profits each year are transferred to 
the Charity. The specific activity or status of each company is:

Company registration number Principal activity
Macmillan Cancer Support Trading Limited 2779446 Fundraising trading activities and sale 

of Christmas cards and other items
Macmillan Cancer Support Enterprises Limited 3123290 Dormant
Cancerbackup 2803321 Dormant
Macmillan Healthcare Lottery Limited 9771479 Seasonal raffle 
Macmillan Cancer Information Lottery Limited 9771409 Weekly lottery 
Macmillan Financial Grants Lottery Limited 9494065 Weekly lottery 
Macmillan Influencing Cancer Care Lottery Limited 9771351 Weekly lottery 
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7. Subsidiary undertakings (continued)

A summary of the trading results and Balance Sheets of the non dormant companies is shown below.
The companies have the same year end date as the Charity.

Macmillan 
Cancer 

Support 
Trading 
Limited

Macmillan 
Healthcare 

Lottery 
Limited

Macmillan 
Cancer 

Information 
Lottery 
Limited

Macmillan 
Financial 

Grants 
Lottery 
Limited

Macmillan 
Influencing 

Cancer Care 
Lottery 
Limited

2021 
Total

2020 
Total

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Profit and loss for year ended 31 December 2021
Turnover 3,081 3,326 3,684 3,254 3,645 16,990 16,277
Cost of sales (809) (656) (867) (811) (636) (3,779) (3,294)
Gross profit 2,272 2,670 2,817 2,443 3,009 13,211 12,983
Operating costs (418) (212) (142) (67) (55) (894) (749)
Interest receivable - - - - - - 5
Net profit 1,854 2,458 2,675 2,376 2,954 12,317 12,239
Costs recharged by and interest paid to the Charity (662) (103) (73) (68) (86) (992) (940)
Result on ordinary activities before and after taxation 1,192 2,355 2,602 2,308 2,868 11,325 11,299
Amount donated to the Charity under Gift Aid (1,192) (2,355) (2,602) (2,308) (2,868) (11,325) (11,299)
Result on ordinary activities before and after taxation - - - - - - -

Balance sheet as at 31 December 2021
Current assets 2,960 1,203 849 2,997 1,132 9,141 9,213
Creditors: amounts falling due within one year (2,960) (1,203) (849) (2,997) (1,132) (9,141) (9,213)
Net assets - - - - - - -
Share capital – ordinary shares at £1 each - - - - - - -
Retained earnings - - - - - - -
Total equity - - - - - - -

The called up share capital of Macmillan Cancer Support Trading Limited and Macmillan Cancer Support Enterprises Limited is £2; for Macmillan Healthcare Lottery Limited, 
Macmillan Financial Grants Lottery Limited, Macmillan Cancer Information Lottery Limited and Macmillan Influencing Cancer Care Lottery Limited, the called up share capital is £1. 
Cancerbackup is limited by guarantee. 
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8. Expenditure

Grants
Direct staff 

costs
Other direct 

costs Support costs
2021 
Total

2020 
Total

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000
Expenditure on charitable activities 88,631 33,162 38,030 11,751 171,574 89,331
Expenditure on raising income - 20,768 35,539 6,174 62,481 58,472

88,631 53,930 73,569 17,925 234,055 147,803

Other direct costs associated with raising income include direct event and campaign costs, marketing and advertising.
Note 10 provides further detail on expenditure on charitable activities in year.

Governance

Human 
Resources 

and Facilities
Information 
Technology

Finance, 
Legal, and 
Executive

Policy and 
Communications

2021  
Total

2020 
Total

Analysis of support costs £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000
Charitable activities 834 3,293 2,072 3,662 1,890 11,751 28,455
Raising income 438 1,730 1,089 1,924 993 6,174 14,105

1,272 5,023 3,161 5,586 2,883 17,925 42,560

Support costs, including staff costs, were apportioned to activities on the basis of staff numbers on a full-time equivalent basis for each of the departments supporting the various 
activities. Governance costs included within support costs are apportioned on the same basis.

2021 2020
Analysis of governance costs £’000 £’000
Employees and contract staff 918  906 
External audit fees 141  121 
Board meeting expenses 3  3 
AGM and annual report costs 15  11 
Legal, strategy and other costs 195  105 

 1,272 1,146

External audit fees above represent the fees receivable by the auditors and therefore exclude VAT. Total external audit fees paid by the group, including non-recoverable VAT, are 
£168,000 (2020: £145,000).

9. Expenditure on raising income
2021 2020

£’000 £’000
Costs of raising legacies, donations and grants 56,503 52,822
Costs of trading activities 5,831 5,012
Investment management fees 147 638

62,481 58,472
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10. Expenditure on charitable activities
Direct costs Grants

Support 
costs

2021
Total

2020
Total

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Healthcare
Macmillan nurses 4,862 45,227 532 50,621 16,378
Macmillan allied health professionals 804 6,638 145 7,587 1,636
Treatment and care buildings 1,664 211 249 2,124 2,339
Macmillan GPs 1,494 274 162 1,930 1,909

Information and support
Information services 6,080 974 511 7,565 4,706
Information buildings - - 1 1 14
Mobile Macmillan cancer information centres 189 - 488 677 3,946
Macmillan Support Line 17,534 198 2,520 20,252 16,871

Financial support
Macmillan grants 354 12,201 179 12,734 12,203
Macmillan benefits advice 2,529 29,565 532 32,626 11,683
Macmillan welfare rights helpline 5,904 92 1,033 7,029 6,092
Financial guidance service 2,495 38 544 3,077 3,501

Practical and emotional support
Social care schemes 908 1,644 132 2,684 4,115
Macmillan social workers - - 45 45 175
Volunteering services 5,790 185 1,048 7,023 7,242

Learning and development
For Macmillan professionals 3,396 34 498 3,928 5,215

Campaigning and raising awareness
Research to improve cancer services 2,167 151 637 2,955 4,348
Public education and awareness raising 11,652 62 394 12,108 10,360
Inclusion 388 220 37 645 351
Policy and campaigning 2,620 33 1,995 4,648 14,821
Customer and content management 362 4 69 435 404

71,192 97,751 11,751 180,694 128,309
Grant releases and discounting adjustment - (9,120) - (9,120) (38,978)

 71,192  88,631  11,751  171,574  89,331 
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10. Expenditure on charitable activities (continued)

New grants committed in the year are recognised as charitable expenditure in the year in which they are made and are shown above.  
Write-backs of underused grants are released against the line of charitable expenditure to which they were originally made. In year 
grants awarded totalled £97,751,000 (2020: £37,576,000). Grant writebacks totalled £8,725,000 (2020: £41,979,000) and discounting 
adjustments totalled £395,000 credit (2020: £3,001,000 debit). 

Grants to institutions and partner organisations resulted in expenditure of £76,430,000 (2020: £10,467,000 net credit). Grants to 
individuals totalled £12,201,000 (2020: £9,065,000). A list of the grants made to institutions and partner organisations is disclosed in a 
separate publication which is available on the Charity’s website.

The grants figure shown above comprises both multi-year grants where the full cost is recognised on the Balance Sheet and as a 
liability in the year of commitment and those grants, mainly Macmillan grants, which are wholly disbursed during the year.

Grant commitments vary in size from an individual post to a full redesign of a service or a building. This can cause significant 
movements in the expenditure within a category from one year to the next.

11. Net expenditure for the year

This is stated after charging:   2021 2020 
£’000 £’000

Depreciation 485 510
External audit fees 141 121
Operating lease rentals:
     • Property 3,054 4,110
     • Vehicles & equipment 10 52

External audit fees above represent the fees receivable by the auditors and therefore exclude VAT. Total external audit fees paid by 
the group, including non-recoverable VAT, is £168,000 (2020: £145,000).

No trustee has received any remuneration from the Group during the year (2020: £nil). The total amount of trustee expenses incurred 
directly by Macmillan or reimbursed during the year was £3,065 (2020: £6,736), which all related to trustee meetings and seminar 
attendance. One trustee was reimbursed in 2021 (2020: one). Donations received from trustees during the year totalled £8,316 (2020: 
£36,825). Trustees also generate non-donation income through their involvement in, and support of, other Macmillan activities.
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12. Staff costs and numbers
2021 2020

£’000 £’000
Wages and salaries 57,697 66,741
Agency and contract staff 2,887 2,515
Employers’ National Insurance contributions 6,384 6,961
Pension costs 7,049 7,875
Other employee benefits 1,030 1,227
Redundancy and termination costs 453 3,826

75,500 89,145

Redundancy and termination costs included amounts totalling £nil which were unpaid as at 31 December 2021 (2020: £397,000). The 
Executive Strategy Team (EST) are regarded as the Charity’s key management personnel under FRS 102. The total earnings, including 
benefits, employer pension contributions and termination payments received by staff who were members of the EST during 2021 
totalled £1,380,000 (2020: £1,311,000 including one termination payment). During the year payments were made to 9 staff (2020: 7 
staff).

The number of employees whose total earnings in the year (including benefits but excluding employer pension contributions) fell into 
the bands below were:

2021 2020
No. No.

£60,001 – £70,000 60 61
£70,001 – £80,000 32 33
£80,001 – £90,000 15 15
£90,001 – £100,000 5 4
£100,001 – £110,000 8 10
£110,001 – £120,000 3 2
£120,001 – £130,000 3 -
£130,001 – £140,000 1 1
£140,001 – £150,000 - 1
£150,001 – £160,000 2 3
£160,001 – £170,000 - -
£170,001 – £180,000 1 1
£180,001 – £190,000 1 1

The Chief Executive was the highest paid employee in 2020 and 2021.
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12. Staff costs and numbers (continued)
Retirement benefits are accruing under defined benefit schemes for 21 (2020: 22) higher-paid employees. Contributions totalling £571,000 (2020: £562,000) were made to 
stakeholder schemes for 129 (2020: 116) higher-paid employees.

The average number of staff employed during the year was 1,629 (2020: 1,868) which includes 343 part-time staff (2020: 414). The average number of full-time equivalent (FTE) staff 
employed during the year was 1,527 (2020: 1,754). 

The average FTE is analysed by function as follows:

2021 2020
No. No.

Raising income 526 581
Charitable activities 1,001 1,173

1,527 1,754

13. Tangible assets

The Group and Charity Assets under 
construction

Leasehold 
property

Leasehold 
property 

improvements
Motor 

vehicles
Computer 

equipment
Furniture and 

equipment Total
£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Cost
At 1 January 2021 16 7,096 2,353 1,194 820 1,683 13,162
Additions in the year - - - - - - -
Disposals in the year - - (650) - - (401) (1,051)
Transfers of assets brought into use (16) - - - 16 - -
At 31 December 2021 - 7,096 1,703 1,194 836 1,282 12,111

Accumulated depreciation
At 1 January 2021 - 615 1,790 966 803 1,355 5,529
Charge for the year - 143 103 101 19 119 485
Disposals in the year - - (650) - - (401) (1,051)
At 31 December 2021 - 758 1,243 1,067 822 1,073 4,963

Net book value
At 31 December 2021 - 6,338 460 127 14 209 7,148
At 31 December 2020 16 6,481 563 228 17 328 7,633

Capital commitments as at 31 December 2021 totalled £nil (2020: £nil).
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14. Fixed asset investments

The Group and Charity
Listed 

investments 
and related 

foreign 
exchange 
contracts

Unlisted 
investments 
and related 

foreign 
exchange 
contracts

Money 
market funds 
and cash for 

reinvestment
Investment 
properties

Programme 
related 

investments 
2021
Total

2020
Total

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000
Market value at 1 January 6,812 2,009 90,839 520 1,515 101,695 133,893
Purchased acquisitions 27,634 4 (27,638) - 352 352 365
Shares and investments acquired via legacies and gifts - - - - - - -
Transfer to cash and cash equivalents - - (449) - - (449) (26,639)
Disposal proceeds (4,612) (678) 5,290 - - - -
Net income reinvested 28 - 106 - - 134 630
Net gains and losses on investments (378) 29 155 52 (464) (606) (6,554)
Market value at 31 December 29,484 1,364 68,303 572 1,403 101,126 101,695

Investments in cash and cash equivalents within the £68,303,000 (2020: £90,839,000) money market funds and cash for reinvestment above includes £65,798,000 (2020: 
£82,416,000) in highly rated money market funds.

The programme related investment relates to the Charity’s investment in the Care and Wellbeing Fund in partnership with Social Finance and Big Society Capital.

Investment properties comprise properties received from legacies when the Charity has title but there is a life interest. 

The historical cost of Group and Charity fixed asset investments at 31 December 2021 was £104,319,000 (2020: £104,882,000).

15. Current asset investments 

The Group and Charity 2021 2020
£’000 £’000

Listed investments 45,905 28,355
45,905 28,355

The historical cost of the Group and Charity’s listed investments at 31 December 2021 was £45,905,000 (2020: £28,355,000).

16. Cash at bank and in hand
Group Group Charity Charity

2021 2020 2021 2020
£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Cash at bank and in hand 10,423 11,384 4,597 5,360
10,423 11,384 4,597 5,360
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17. Financial instruments
Group Group Charity Charity

2021 2020 2021 2020
Categories of financial instruments £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Financial assets
Fixed asset investments 101,126 101,695 101,126 101,695
Current asset investments 45,905 28,355 45,905 28,355

147,031 130,050 147,031 130,050
Cash at bank and in hand 10,423 11,384 4,597 5,360
Debtors 74,479 66,691 78,888 70,652

231,933 208,125 230,516 206,062

Financial liabilities
Grants committed not yet paid 151,865 123,443 151,865 123,443

Other creditors and deferred income 14,410 12,020 12,620 9,675
166,275 135,463 164,485 133,118

Risk management 
The Group is exposed through its operations and investments to the following financial risks:
•  Market risk
•  Foreign currency exchange rate risk
•  Credit risk
•  Liquidity risk

Market risk, including foreign currency exchange rate risk
Market risk is the risk that the fair value of a financial instrument will fluctuate due to changes in market prices. Market prices are influenced by movements in 
interest rates, currency movements and other market factors. The Charity manages this risk by employing professional investment managers and aims to hold a 
widely diversified portfolio of investments. As a result of the coronavirus pandemic, the trustees decided to liquidate the long-term fund in its entirety in 2020 in 
order to reduce exposure to changes in investment prices and improve liquidity.

The Charity is exposed to foreign currency exchange rate risk through its investment activities in assets denominated in foreign currencies. The Charity uses 
foreign exchange forward and option contracts to hedge this exposure.

All other non-investment related activities are denominated in sterling and therefore do not generate any foreign exchange rate risk.

Credit risk 
Credit risk in the Charity’s investment portfolio as at 31 December 2021 and 31 December 2020 relates to the risk that funds in which the Charity has an investment 
would fail to process a request for redemption of the investment. The Charity manages this risk by employing professional investment managers and holding a 
widely diversified portfolio of investments ensuring that risks taken are carefully managed, monitored and controlled. 

The nature of the Charity’s non-investment assets and customer profile means that the Charity is not exposed to significant credit risk on these assets.

Liquidity risk
The Charity’s liquidity policy is framed to ensure there is no substantive liquidity risk. Under the policy, the Charity’s target is to retain £100 million in investments 
and cash which are capable of being liquidated at relatively short notice to ensure cash is available to meet liabilities as they arise. In addition, the Charity will hold 
cash and other liquid funds to meet normal day-to-day cash flow requirements. 
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18. Stocks and property awaiting sale 
Group Group Charity Charity

2021 2020 2021 2020
£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Goods for resale 370 281 - -
Gifted properties awaiting sale - 30 - 28

370 311  - 28

19. Debtors
Group Group Charity Charity

2021 2020 2021 2020
£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Trade debtors 519 608 - -
Amount owed by subsidiary undertakings - - 5,136 5,021
Accrued legacy income 69,636 58,526 69,636 58,526
Gift Aid recoverable 818 283 818 283
Other debtors 1,918 1,622 1,880 1,622
Prepayments and other accrued income 5,738 5,935 5,560 5,483

78,629 66,974 83,030 70,935

It is estimated that £55,000,000 (2020: £44,000,000) of the accrued legacy income shown above will be received within one year.

In addition to the accrued legacy income above, the Charity has been notified of legacies for which no income has been recognised at 31 December 
2021 because the income recognition criteria has not been met. The actual timing and amounts to be received are unknown. Based on the average 
value of legacies received, the value of these is estimated to be in the region of £36,000,000 (2020: £32,000,000).

Included within the amount owed by subsidiary undertakings is a loan of £370,000 to Macmillan Cancer Support Trading Limited (2020: £370,000 to 
Macmillan Cancer Support Sales Limited). Interest is payable on the loan and is calculated at base rate plus 2%. The loan is repayable by 31 December 
2025, and is secured by a first-ranking debenture dated 28 July 1999 containing fixed and floating charges over all the assets of the subsidiary company. 
The remaining £4,766,000 (2020: £4,651,000) owed by subsidiary undertakings is interest free and repayable on demand.
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20. Grants committed not yet paid
The Group and Charity Macmillan 

professionals’ 
grants Buildings Other 2021 2020
£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Commitments at 1 January 92,219 10,025 21,199 123,443 205,061
Grants paid during the year (38,263) (5,265) (3,815) (47,343) (70,442)
New grants committed during the year 78,617 119 5,754 84,490 30,803
Commitments released (5,670) (883) (2,172) (8,725) (41,979)
Commitments at 31 December 126,903 3,996 20,966 151,865 123,443
Falling due within one year 57,665 1,816 9,528 69,009 54,710
Falling due after one year 69,238 2,180 11,438 82,856 68,733
Commitments at 31 December 126,903 3,996 20,966 151,865 123,443

Other grants are those which are made in relation to a service which is more than just for a Macmillan professional post or a building.  
This includes developing and supporting research and services to assess and meet patient needs across health, financial, information,  
emotional and practical support, from diagnosis onwards

21. Other creditors and deferred income
Group Group Charity Charity

2021 2020 2021 2020
£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Taxation and social security 2,003 2,556 1,998 2,555
Accruals 5,042 4,546 4,863 4,356
Trade creditors 6,241 3,566 5,767 3,147
Other creditors 693 812 693 812
Deferred income 2,434 3,096 1,297 1,360

16,413 14,576 14,618 12,230
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22. Deferred income
Group Group Charity Charity

2021 2020 2021 2020
£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Deferred income at 1 January 3,096 2,035 1,360 462
Income deferred in the year 2,080 2,698 943 961
Deferred income released from prior years (2,742) (1,637) (1,006) (63)
Deferred income at 31 December 2,434 3,096 1,297 1,360

23. Provisions for liabilities

The Group and Charity Dilapidations Other
2021
Total

2020
Total

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000
Provisions at 1 January 656 69 725 734
Additional provisions made in the year 736 - 736 133
Provisions released from prior years (187) (69) (256) (142)
Provisions for liabilities at 31 December 1,205 - 1,205 725

Dilapidation provisions relate to property leases with various termination dates up until November 2033.
Other provisions relate to payments due in relation to office closures.

24. Analysis of group net assets between funds

The Group and Charity
Restricted 

funds
Designated 

funds
General 

funds
Total  
funds

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000
Tangible assets 4,165 2,983 - 7,148 
Fixed asset investments - - 101,126 101,126 
Cash and current asset investments 37,703 583 18,042 56,328 
Debtors, stocks and property awaiting sale 4,258 - 74,741 78,999 
Creditors, deferred income and provisions (29,690) (583) (139,210) (169,483)
Net assets at 31 December 2021 16,436 2,983 54,699 74,118 
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25. Movements in group funds
Balance  

1 January 
2021 Income Expenditure

Loss on 
investments Transfers

Balance 
31 December 

2021
£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Restricted funds
Local appeals 278 1,845 (2,119) - - 4
Macmillan Horizon Centre 4,249 - (115) - - 4,134
Department of Health grants 115 - - - - 115
Mobile Information support 80 - (49) - - 31
Other funds 16,207 18,694 (22,749) - - 12,152
Total restricted funds 20,929 20,539 (25,032) - - 16,436

Unrestricted funds
General funds
Investment revaluation reserve (3,187) - - - (6) (3,193)
Other general funds 56,562 199,118 (197,973) (142) 327 57,892
Total general funds 53,375 199,118 (197,973) (142) 321 54,699

Designated funds
Tangible asset fund 3,304 - - - (321) 2,983
Macmillan local services - 349 (349) - - -
Healthcare - 2,355 (2,355) - - -
Information services - 2,602 (2,602) - - -
Macmillan grants - 2,308 (2,308) - - -
Influencing cancer care - 2,868 (2,868) - - -
SLS and Workforce - 568 (568) - - -
Total designated funds 3,304 11,050 (11,050) - (321) 2,983
Total unrestricted funds 56,679 210,168 (209,023) (142) - 57,682
Total funds 77,608 230,707 (234,055) (142) - 74,118
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25. Movements in group funds (continued)
Purposes of restricted funds
Local appeals
Local appeal funds comprise income generated from 
fundraising activities by Macmillan appeals throughout the 
UK. Local appeal deficits arise where we commit to funding 
the service early on in an appeal. Under our accounting 
policy, we recognise the full cost of multi-year grants when 
the commitment is made. Often, we will take three years to 
raise the income necessary to meet this cost. Such appeals 
will start in deficit and gradually work their way to break even 
over the life of the appeal. During the year no funds (2020: £nil) 
were transferred from unrestricted funds to restricted appeal 
funds to cover deficits which will not be matched by future 
fundraising. It is anticipated that the remaining deficits will be 
matched by future restricted income flows.

Some appeals raise significant funds before the actual grant 
commitment is made, particularly building appeals. As a result, 
they appear in surplus for the first part of the life of the appeal. 
Appeals at the year end in surplus totalled £1,384,000 (2020: 
£1,995,000). Appeals in deficit totalled £1,380,000  
(2020: £1,717,000). 

Macmillan Horizon Centre
Depreciation in the year of £116,000 (2020: £117,000, fixed asset 
expenditure net of depreciation) funded from appeal funds 
relating to an information and support centre adjacent to the 
Brighton Cancer Centre. The fund balance at 31 December 2021 
was £4,134,000 (2020: £4,249,000).

Department of Health Grants -  
National Cancer Survivorship Initiative
There were no funds received or expended in the year (2020: 
£nil) and there were no grants released back to the fund in the 
year (2020: £nil). The fund balance at 31 December 2021 was 
£115,000 (2020: £115,000).

Mobile Information and Support Service buses
Depreciation in the year of £49,000 (2020: £49,000, fixed asset 
expenditure net of depreciation) funded from other funds 
relating to two Mobile Information and Support Service buses. 
The fund balance at 31 December 2021 was £31,000   
(2020: £80,000). 

Other funds 
Other restricted funds comprise income for specific Macmillan 
activities. At 31 December 2021, the balance of £12,152,000 
(2020: £16,207,000) is made up of:

•  Healthcare and information funds  
Income which has been restricted to these funds has 
come from a variety of sources and is restricted either to 
clinical or information services, including nurses, allied 
health professionals, clinical and information buildings and 
information services. The income is sometimes further 
restricted to either a type of post or service or to a post or 
service at a specific location. Funds will be expended as 
appropriate posts are identified or developed. The balance at 
the year end totalled £8,890,000 (2020: £12,381,000).

•  Financial support and practical and emotional support funds 
Income which has been restricted to these funds has come 
from a variety of sources and is restricted either to financial 
support or daily living, including volunteer schemes and social 
work. Much of this income is restricted to a geographical area, 
and it is likely that we will expend a significant proportion 
of this income on Macmillan grants to individuals. There 
may, however, be other service developments in the area of 
the restriction and the income may be spent on such new 
service developments. The balance at the year end totalled 
£3,272,000 (2020: £3,826,000).

Designated funds

Tangible asset fund
The tangible asset fund represents the value of general funds 
invested in tangible assets which are not, by the nature of 
tangible assets, readily available for use for other purposes. 
The transfer out of £321,000 (2020: transfer in of £120,000) 
makes the value of the fund equal to the net book value of 
the tangible assets less any restricted tangible assets at 31 
December 2021. Tangible asset expenditure financed from 
restricted funds is shown within the restricted fund balances.

Macmillan local services
£349,000 (2020: £371,000) was designated and spent in the 
year on Macmillan professional posts, to match cause related 
marketing raised to fund local Macmillan services.

Healthcare
The £2,355,000 (2020: £2,290,000) profits donated to the 
Charity from Macmillan Healthcare Lottery Limited were 
designated and spent during the year on healthcare services.

Information services
The £2,602,000 (2020: £2,494,000) profits donated to the 
Charity from Macmillan Cancer Information Lottery Limited 
were designated and spent during the year on information 
services.

Macmillan grants
The £2,308,000 (2020: £2,445,000) profits donated to the 
Charity from Macmillan Financial Grants Lottery Limited were 
designated and spent during the year on Macmillan grants.

Influencing cancer care
The £2,868,000 (2020: £2,987,000) profits donated to the 
Charity from Macmillan Influencing Cancer Care Lottery Limited 
were designated and spent during the year on influencing 
cancer care.

SLS and Workforce 
£568,000 (2020: £7,000) was designated and spent in the year 
on our Support Line Services and Cancer Workforce to match 
unrestricted funds raised through our campaign, ‘Everyone. 
From Day One’, as part of our charity partnership with 2021 
Virgin Money London Marathon.

Other unrestricted funds
Investment revaluation reserve
The investment revaluation reserve is calculated as the 
difference between the market valuation and the historical 
cost of the Charity’s investments. The transfer out of £6,000 
(2020: transfer out of £13,350,000) is an adjustment to align 
the fund to the difference between market value and historical 
cost at 31 December 2021.
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26. Related party transactions 
•  Rosie Loftus is the Chief Medical Officer of Macmillan Cancer 

Support. Rosie’s husband, Dr Peter Green, is an elected GP 
Governing Body Member of NHS Kent and Medway Clinical 
Commissioning Group (CCG). During 2021 Macmillan made 
two new commitments to Medical Clinical Commissioning 
Group totalling £91,000 (2020: £7,000), £91,000 (2020: £nil) 
for Clinical Nurse Specialists and no funds (2020: £7,000) 
were committed for GP posts. Macmillan made payments in 
relation to commitments from prior years totalling £163,000 
(2020: £96,000) to the CCG: £77,000 (2020: £59,000) for GP 
posts, £nil (2020: £7,000) for a Primary Care Nurse, £76,000 
(2020: £16,000) for Practice nurses, £10,000 (2020: £14,000) 
for a Primary Care Nurse Facilitator. During 2021 there were 
grant write-backs totalling £92,000 (2020: £25,000) relating 
to commitments from prior years. At 31 December 2021, our 
outstanding amount owed to NHS Kent and Medway CCG 
was £140,000 (2020: £334,000). In 2021, Macmillan Cancer 
Support also paid the CCG £29,000 (2020: £nil) in relation to a 
GP Associate Adviser contract.

•  Mohammed Mehmet is a trustee of Macmillan Cancer 
Support. On 21 September 2020 he was appointed as  
non-executive director of Public Health Wales NHS Trust. 
During 2021 Macmillan made payments in relation to 
commitments from prior years totalling £611,000 (2020: 
£612,000) to Public Health Wales. Macmillan also committed 
no further grants (2020: £nil) and no grant write-backs relating 
to prior year grants were processed (2020: £682,000).  
At 31 December 2021, our outstanding amount owed to  
Public Health Wales was £998,000 (2020: £1,609,000).

•  Claire Rowney is the Executive Director of Fundraising, 
Marketing and Innovation at Macmillan Cancer Support. 
She was also Chair of The Chartered Institute of Fundraising 
until July 2021. From January to July 2021, Macmillan made 
payments of £51,000 (2020: £66,000) to the Institute.

•  Toby Strauss is a trustee of Macmillan Cancer Support. He is 
also non-executive director on the board of Legal & General 
plc and Chair of Pacific Life. During the year Macmillan 
received income from Legal & General of £nil (2020: £1,000).

•  Lynda Thomas is the Chief Executive Officer (CEO) of 
Macmillan Cancer Support. She was also appointed as 
an Independent Board member of Cwm Taf University 
Health Board in October 2021. During 2021 Macmillan 
made payments in relation to grant commitments totalling 
£415,000 to Cwm Taf University Health Board. Macmillan also 
committed a further £678,000 in committed grants, 
 including support grants, and there were grant write-backs 
totalling £25,000. At 31 December 2021, our outstanding 
amount owed to Cwm Taf University Health Board was 
£742,000 (2020: £504,000).

Other
•  Macmillan is a member of the National Cancer Research 

Institute (NCRI), which brings together the major 
organisations that fund cancer research to coordinate their 
activities, including joint funding initiatives. In 2021, the 
Charity made payments totalling £17,000 (2020: £5,000) to the 
NCRI for membership. 

•  Macmillan Cancer Support Jersey Limited (MCSJ Ltd) is a 
company limited by guarantee and incorporated in the Island 
of Jersey (company number 104090). It is an independent 
organisation which carries out fundraising on the Island 
and funds Macmillan services. Christopher Scally, Strategic 
Partnership Manager for South West England is a Director 
of MCSJ Ltd. During 2021 the Charity did not have any 
transactions with MCSJ Ltd (2020: £nil).

•  The Charity acted as the Secretariat for the All Party 
Parliamentary Group on Cancer, a group which brings 
together MPs and Peers to improve cancer services.   
The Charity operates a separate bank account for the Group 
which had a balance of £60,000 (2020: £60,000) as at  
31 December 2021.

•  Lynda Thomas, the Chief Executive Officer at Macmillan 
Cancer Support, is the Vice-Chair of the Richmond Group 
of Charities. Macmillan Cancer Support is a member of the 
Richmond Group and provides administrative support to the 
Group. It makes payments and receives income on behalf of 
the Group. At the year end the Charity held funds totalling 
£29,000 (2020: £105,000) on behalf of the Group. 
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27. Operating lease commitments

The Group and Charity

The Group and Charity had commitments to future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases at the year end as follows:

Property
2021

Property 
2020

Vehicles and 
equipment 

2021

Vehicles and 
equipment 

2020
Total
2021

Total
2020

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000
Within 1 year 3,282 3,274 5 7 3,287 3,281
Between 1 and 5 years 5,275 8,041 1 - 5,276 8,041
After 5 years - - - - - -

8,557 11,315 6 7 8,563 11,322

28. Contingent liabilities 

As at 31 December 2021, Macmillan had contingent liabilities of £6,100,000 (2020: £nil).

The Charity entered into a contract with Oxford University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust and Social Finance Limited on 13 December 2021. The Charity will 
provide a social impact bond to the NHS Foundation Trust in relation to the provision of certain end of life care services. When the conditions and milestones set 
out in the contract are met, the Charity will recognise expenditure of up to £6,100,000 over the period ending 31 May 2025.

29. Pension costs

During 2021, the Charity operated a defined benefit pension scheme for employees who joined the scheme before 30 April 2005, the date the scheme was finally 
closed to all new entrants. On 30 June 2010, the scheme closed to the accrual of future benefits. The assets of the defined benefit scheme are held separately 
from those of the Charity in an independently administered fund. From 1 May 2004, the Charity has paid contributions for eligible employees into a stakeholder 
pension scheme. The Charity has also paid contributions for eligible employees into the National Health Service (NHS) Pension.

Macmillan defined benefit scheme
The actuary has computed the following information about the financial position of the scheme as at 31 December 2021:

2021 2020
Scheme assets and liabilities £’000 £’000
Fair value of the scheme assets 59,276 59,656
Present value of scheme liabilities  (48,641)  (51,091)
Net surplus 10,635  8,565 

Following closure of the scheme to future accrual, in accordance with Financial Reporting Standard (FRS) 102, the scheme surplus 
is not recognised on the Charity’s Balance Sheet. 

Scheme funds are administered by the scheme’s trustees and are independent of the Charity’s finances. The scheme is a UK 
based defined benefit scheme, providing benefits at retirement and on death in service.
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29. Pension costs (continued)
The scheme is subject to triennial valuation by an independent actuary using the projected unit method. The most recent 
triennial valuation was undertaken as at 31 December 2019 and reported a funding surplus of £983,000. 

Following closure of the scheme to future accrual on 30 June 2010, there were no employer contributions made by the Charity in 
2021 (2020: £nil). The Charity does not expect to make any contributions in 2022.

For the purposes of the disclosures required under FRS 102, the actuarial valuation has been updated at 31 December 2021 by a 
qualified actuary using the following assumptions:

Financial assumptions 2021 2020
Discount rate 1.80% 1.20%
Retail price inflation 3.50% 3.00%
Consumer price inflation 3.00% 2.20%
Rate of increase in salaries n/a n/a
Rate of increase in pensions in payment RPI capped at 5% 3.40% 3.00%
Rate of increase in pensions in payment RPI capped at 2.5% 2.30% 2.20%
Rate of increase in deferred pensions 3.00% 2.20%

The liabilities allow for future discretionary increases of RPI (capped at 5% per annum) to be awarded each year on pension 
accrued to 6 April 1997. 

Mortality assumptions 2021 2020
Using mortality table 100% S3PMA_Middle/ 100%S3PFA_Middle CMI Model 2019 [1.25%] 
(year of birth) (2019: 102% S3PMA/110% S3PFA CMI Model 2018 [1.25%] (year of birth))

life 
expectancy

life 
expectancy

years years
Males at 65 in 2021 21.4 21.4
Females at 65 in 2021 23.8 23.7
Males at 65 aged 45 in 2021 22.7 22.7
Females at 65 aged 45 in 2021 25.3 25.2

An analysis of the scheme assets and the expected long-term return rates at  
31 December 2021 was as follows:

2021 2020
£’000 £’000

Bonds  57,364  59,702 
Other  1,912  (46)

 59,276 59,656

Assets do not include any amounts for the Charity’s own financial instruments or property occupied, or other assets used by the 
Charity. The scheme’s assets include £63,000 (2020: £69,000) of insured annuity policies in relation to pensions secured prior to 
May 1993. These insured annuity policies are included in the figure provided for “Other” above. 
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29. Pension costs (continued)

The following amounts have been recognised in the financial statements for the year  
ended 31 December 2021 under the requirements of FRS 102:

2021 2020
£’000 £’000

Interest income  607  780 
Interest on liabilities  (607)  (780)
Past service cost  –  – 
Net credit to the Statement of Financial Activities  –  – 
Unrecognisable credit due to closure of the scheme to future accrual    –  –
Amount credited to the Statement of Financial Activities  -  - 

2021 2020
£’000 £’000

Actual return on assets less interest  112  7,387 
Actuarial losses on scheme liabilities  1,958  (9,672)
Limit on recognition of assets less interest  (2,070)  2,285 
Amount recognised in the Statement of Financial Activities  -  - 

2021 2020
Changes in the fair value of the scheme assets are as follows: £’000 £’000
Fair value of scheme assets at 1 January  59,656  52,303 
Interest income  607  780 
Contributions  –  – 
Benefits paid  (1,099)  (814)
Actual return on assets less interest  112  7,387 
Fair value of scheme assets at 31 December  59,276  59,656 

2021 2020
Changes in the present value of the scheme liabilities are as follows: £’000 £’000
Present value of scheme liabilities at 1 January  51,091  41,453 
Past service cost  –  – 
Interest on liabilities  607  780 
Benefits paid  (1,099)  (814)
Actuarial (gains) / losses on scheme liabilities  (1,958)  9,672 
Present value of scheme liabilities at 31 December  48,641  51,091 
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29. Pension costs (continued)
Other pension schemes
The Charity participates in the NHS Pension Scheme, an 
unfunded, defined benefit scheme for employees who 
were formerly employed in the NHS, GP practices and other 
bodies allowed under the direction of the Secretary of State, 
in England and Wales. During the year the Charity made 
contributions for 119 employees totalling £716,000 (2020: 
154 employees, £912,000) to the NHS Scheme. There were 
no contributions outstanding at the end of the year (2020: 
£78,000). The NHS Scheme has been closed to new Macmillan 
employees from 1 January 2020.

The latest published actuarial valuation undertaken for the NHS 
Pension Scheme was completed as at 31 March 2016, which 
reported that the scheme had accumulated a notional deficit 
of £19.4 billion against the notional assets as at 31 March 2016. 
This valuation set the employer contribution rate payable 
from April 2019, increased by 6.3% to 20.68% of pensionable 
pay from this date (inclusive of administration levy) although 
the increase was met by NHS England and the Department 
of Health and Social Care for their financial years 2019/20 and 
2020/21. The next actuarial valuation at end of 31 March 2020 
is still not yet published. From an accounting perspective, a 
valuation of the scheme liability is carried out annually by the 
scheme actuary by updating the results of the full actuarial 
valuation based on detailed membership data. The latest 
assessment of the liabilities of the scheme was undertaken 
for the year to 31 March 2021 and is contained in the scheme 
actuary report which forms part of the annual NHS Pension 
(England and Wales) Resource Account, published annually. 
These accounts can be viewed on the NHS Pension website 
and are published annually. Copies can also be obtained from 
the Stationery Office.

The Charity has also made payments into a stakeholder 
scheme operated by Legal & General. This is a defined 
contribution scheme. During the year the Charity made 
contributions for 1,767 employees totalling £6,355,000 (2020: 
1,886 employees, £6,964,000). 
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ABB Ltd

Adint Charitable Trust

Aegon UK

Alan Bocking 

Ali Alcock

Al’s Pals

Alva Academy

Andrew Cruttenden 

Anne Farnsworth

Antrim Committee

Aviva

Baker McKenzie LLP

Banham Charitable Foundation

Baraka Khan Foundation

Barclays Bank plc

Barnsley Support Group

Barratt Foundation

Barratt Group

Bebb Charitable Trust

Bernard Broadhurst

Betty Crocker

Billingshurst Fundraising Group

BNA Charitable Incorporated Organisation

Boots UK 

Boulevard Newcastle

Brixham Charity Shop

BRM Solicitors 

Bruce McInnes

Buckinghamshire South Fundraising Group 

Camberley Committee

Card Factory 

Cazoo

CBRE 

CEF

Christopher Holder

Churchill Retirement Living and Millstream 
Management Services 

Cliff McConkey in memory of  
Connor McConkey

Co. Armagh Fundraising Group   

Community Foundation of Northern Ireland 
- DoH Cancer Charities Support Fund

Constance Travis Charitable Trust

Coventry General Charities

Croydon Relief in Need

Cynon Valley Committee

David Bond-Powell 

David Vaughan

Downpatrick Support Group 

Easter Ross Macmillan Fundraising Group

Ed Knox

Eden Motor Group

Edinburgh Macmillan Art Show Committee

Energy Industry Voluntary Redress Scheme

Eric Butcher

Ernest Hecht Charitable Foundation

Everyone Active

Follow the Stars –  
Macmillan Carols Committee 

Franklin Templeton

Gareth Bater

Gary McKee

Gefco UK Ltd

George Cadbury Fund

Ghalia and Omar Al-Qattan

Giveacar

Greene King

Groupe Atlantic UK,  
ROI & North America Division

Harold Jerams

Hazara Singh Mujral

Hodge Foundation

Homebase 

Houghton Dunn Charitable Trust

Hoylake (Wirral) Committee

HSBC UK

In Memory of Simon Pounder

Isle of Lewis and Harris  
Macmillan Fundraising Group

Jennifer Chambers

Jo Caulfield

John Burkhill

John Coates Charitable Trust

John Steven Parker

Jonathan Delaney

Joyce Rothschild

Karen & Jon O’Donnell  
(on behalf of Karl Watson)

Leonard Curtis Legal Ltd 

Leyland SDM

Macmillan Berkshire Events

Macmillan Dorset Bike Ride  
Fundraising Group 

Macmillan East Riding Committee

Macmillan Northallerton Committee

Macmillan Toon Angels Fundraising Group

Maeve & Gordon Terrett 

Marks and Spencer

Marshalls plc

Maureen Boal Charitable Trust

Melton Mowbray Fundraising Committee

Memoria Limited  

Menzies LLP

Merthyr Tydfil Committee

Merton Committee

Michael Jacobs

Mid Sussex Committee

Mitsubishi HC Capital UK plc

Montague Lynn

Moondance Foundation

Motor Fuel Group

Move More Northern Ireland     

Melvyn Brown

MSD

National Garden Scheme 

Thank you 
We simply wouldn’t be able to do whatever it takes for people living with cancer without our supporters. There are so many incredible donors, partners, 
committees, volunteers and fundraisers that we cannot thank enough. They include those listed here.
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Nationwide Building Society

NESCAFÉ Original

Newton Aycliffe Fundraising Group

Next plc

North Tyneside Council,  
Bereavement Services

Oak Foundation

Oliver Wyman 

Olle Nash

Olympus

One Stop Stores Ltd

Orkney Macmillan Fundraising Committee

Oundle Macmillan  
Mammoth Quiz Committee

P&A Group of Companies

Paris Natar

Peter Low

Poppy Club Fundraising Group

Redditch & District Committee

Richard Cormack

Ride Cymru

Robert and Jacqueline Kilgour

S Koronka Manufacturing Limited  

Scottish Widows

Scunthorpe Committee 

ShareGift (The Orr Mackintosh Foundation)

Shetland Macmillan Fundraising Group

Sir Robert and Lady Ogden

Skiddle Ltd

Sky Betting and Gaming

Snapfish 

SSP UK & the SSP Foundation

St. Edmunds Trust

Stoney and Friends Committee

Succession Wealth

Sue and John Pearson

SUEZ recycling and recovery UK

Team McKeown

The 29th May 1961 Charitable Trust

The Albert Hunt Trust

The Crematorium and Memorial Group 

The Elizabeth and Prince Zaiger Trust

The Gunnar Nilsson Cancer Treatment  
Trust Fund

The Hintze Family Chairtable Foundation

The Ingram Trust

The John Scott Trust

The Joseph and Lilian Sully Foundation

The Lady Hind Trust

The Lakes Road Club

The Mackie Foundation

The Macmillan Ball Committee

The Margaret Giffen Charitable Trust

The Merry Macs

The Murdoch Forrest Charitable Trust

The Musk-Burton Family Trust

The NatWest Group

The Northwood Charitable Trust

The Ofenheim Charitable Trust

The One Call Group

The Patrick & Helena Frost Foundation

The Peacock Charitable Trust

The PF Charitable Trust

The R C Snelling Charitable Trust

The Robert Fleming Hannay  
Memorial Charity 

The Screwfix Foundation

The Team from Eland Cables

The Trustees of the M H Luen  
Charitable Trust

The Vernon N Ely Charitable Trust

The Woosnam Foundation

The Zochonis Charitable Trust

Thomas & Thomas Solicitors

Toolstation Ltd

Topps Tiles plc

Travis Perkins and Benchmarx

Trevor Dimond

Turkington

United Utilities Group plc

Virgin Money

Walsall Committee

William Goodge

Wolfgang Gorth

Women’s Camanachd Association

W & R Barnett Limited                                     

York Committee

Yorkshire Macmillan Carol Concert 
Committee

A special thank you to the 
3,034 people who so kindly left 
Macmillan a gift in their will in 2021. 
Together they contributed  
£90.4 million, which is well over 
a third of our income. With the 
support of these people, we will 
continue to be there for people 
living with cancer when they 
most need us. We would also like 
to extend a sincere thank you to 
everyone who supported our work 
in memory of a loved one. Your 
thoughtfulness and generosity over 
such a difficult year is appreciated 
more than ever.
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© Macmillan Cancer Support, registered charity in England and Wales (261017),  
Scotland (SC039907) and the Isle of Man (604). Also operating in Northern Ireland.  
A company limited by guarantee, registered in England and Wales company 
number 2400969. Isle of Man company number 4694F. 
Registered office: 89 Albert Embankment, London SE1 7UQ. VAT no: 668265007
MAC18946

macmillan.org.uk

http://macmillan.org.uk
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